Exploring the Mechanisms Underlying the Transient Sitting-induced Pain Response in Healthy Individuals

by © Allyson Summers A Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial

fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Medicine (Clinical Epidemiology), Division of Population Health and Applied Health Sciences

Memorial University of Newfoundland

May 2024

St. John's, Newfoundland, and Labrador

Abstract

Background: Prolonged sitting has been shown to induce clinically relevant levels of transient low back pain in some back-healthy individuals. However, where this pain signal is coming from is unknown. Tissue loading instigating inflammation, or a baseline sensitivity to pain are two potential mechanisms that could explain this response.

Methods: 50 pain-free healthy adults were exposed to 60-minutes of sitting. Perceived pain ratings were taken to classify pain groups. Biomarkers of inflammation and peak brain wave alpha frequency were taken immediately before and after the trial.

Results: 29 participants were identified as pain developers and 21 as non-pain developers. Peak alpha frequency, and spine posture were not significantly different between groups. Non-pain developers had significantly higher concentrations of IL-6 and IL-10 and displayed more frequent shifts in during sitting compared to those without pain.

Conclusion: These results suggest that neither inflammation or pain sensitivity are likely explanations for the transient pain groups identified. However, findings suggest underlying differences between pain groups. Although adopting similar back postures during sitting, non-pain developers moved more during sitting, which may suggest a protective behaviour. Future research should explore the differences in inflammatory markers as well as longer sitting durations.

ii

General Summary

A short-lived back pain response to standing and sitting has been identified in healthy individuals and may be an early predictor of a future case of clinical low back pain. Yet we do not fully understand where this pain signal is coming from. Exploring potential explanations for this pain signal, we measured inflammatory markers and brain waves for 50 healthy individuals during 60minutes of sitting. Participants were classified into pain groups by pain ratings and spine posture was monitored. Non-pain developers moved more during sitting and had higher levels of IL-6 and IL-10 blood biomarkers which may be a protective factor against pain. Future research, building on the finding of this study, is needed to better understand the mechanisms behind this pain response.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Diana De Carvalho. You have truly been such an incredible mentor and leader throughout this journey. Your knowledge and expertise in your field is inspiring and I strive to have as much passion and patience as you do for your career. You go above and beyond for your students not only with their education but also with providing opportunities and ensuring they receive the most beneficial experience out of grad school. You have instilled a great amount of confidence in me with your unwavering support, kindness, and reassurance. I have not only had the opportunity to get to know you as an expert in your field but also as a person and I would like to thank you for being such an incredible, understanding and giving individual the education system deserves more people like you.

I would also like to thank lab mates, my research assistants, and mentors specifically Mona Frey and Ava McGrath who quickly became my close friends. It has been an honour to work alongside and learn from hard working and intelligent women. Our endless number of hours and debates in the lab were made so much more enjoyable with you by my side. I have learned so much from the both of you and thank you for always going the extra mile to help me achieve this goal. I am excited to see the amazing things you both achieve in your lives and careers.

Finally, I would like to thank the Dr. Sarah Power, Dr. Sam Howarth, Dr. Felipe Duarte and Dr. Ben Zendel for their support and contributions to this project. You have all been so willing to help guide me and share your abundance of knowledge throughout this so I thank you. It has been inspirational to learn from you all.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
General Summary iii
Acknowledgments iv
List of Tablesix
List of Figures xi
List of Appendicesxiii
Chapter 1: Introduction and Rationale1
1.1 Introduction1
1.2 Purpose
1.3 Research Questions
1.3.1 Primary Research Questions
1.3.2 Secondary Research Questions
1.4 Hypotheses5
1.4.1 Primary Hypothesis
1.4.2 Secondary Hypotheses
Chapter 2: Literature Review
2.1 Functional Anatomy of the Low Back7
2.2 Pain
2.3 Clinical Low Back pain

2.4 Epidemiology of Low Back Pain	11
2.5 Association of Sitting and LBP	14
2.6 Potential Pathways to Pain in Sitting	15
2.7 Sitting and the Transient Pain Phenomenon	17
2.8 Subjective Measures of Pain	18
2.9 Objective Measures Relevant to the Experience of Pain	19
2.9.1 Biomarkers of Inflammation	19
2.9.2 Electroencephalography	21
2.10 Purpose of the Study	23
2.11 Research Objectives	24
2.12 Significance of Study	24
Chapter 3: Methods	25
3.1 Study Design	25
3.2 Setting	25
3.3 Participants	25
3.4 Sample Size Calculation	26
3.5 Remuneration	27
3.6 Instrumentation	27
3.6.1 Setup	27
3.6.2 Ergonomic Workstation	28

3.6.3 Visual Analog Scale	
3.6.4 Blood Biomarkers of Inflammation	
3.6.5 Electroencephalography	
3.6.6 Accelerometers	
3.7 Data Collection	
3.8 Data Analysis	41
3.8.1 Self-reported Pain Ratings	41
3.8.2 Concentration of Biomarkers of Inflammation	
3.8.3 Electroencephalography Data	43
3.8.4 Accelerometer	43
3.9 Statistical Analysis	44
Chapter 4: Results	
Chapter 4: Results	
 <i>Chapter 4: Results</i> 4.1 Participant Characteristics 4.2 Missing data 	
 <i>Chapter 4: Results</i> 4.1 Participant Characteristics 4.2 Missing data 4.3 Pain Ratings 	
 Chapter 4: Results	

4.6.2 Range of Motion	
4.6.3 Fidget Frequency	53
4.6.4 Shift Frequency	55
Chapter 5: Discussion	57
5.1 Pain Group Membership	58
5.2 Biomarkers of Inflammation	58
5.3 Peak Alpha Frequency	60
5.4 Viscoelastic Creep	61
5.6 Spine Micromovement	62
5.7 Limitations	63
5.8 Future Research	65
5.9 Conclusion and Impact	66
References	68

List of Abbreviations

ANOVA: Analysis of variance

- EEG: Electroencephalography
- HREB: Health Research Ethics Board
- IASP: International Association for the Study of Pain
- IL-10: Interleukin-10
- IL-1 β : Interleukin-1 β
- IL-6: Interleukin-6
- LBP: Low back pain
- NPD: Non-pain developers
- NRS: Numeric pain rating scale
- PD: Pain developers
- TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor alpha
- VAS: Visual analog scale

List of Tables

Table 1: Missing data for all outcome measures collected
Table 2: Group characteristics for PD and NPD46
Table 3: Average peak pain rating for PD and NPD and their associated location47
Table 4: ANOVA test results for biomarkers
Table 5: The t-test results for peak alpha frequency at baseline for each sensorimotor cortex electrode.
Table 6: ANOVA test result comparing the normalized lumber angle between PD and NPD and time. .52
Table 7: ANOVA results comparing the flexion angle before and after the 60-minute sitting exposure between PD and NPD
Table 8: Post hoc test results for fidget frequency for each 15-minute time block throughout the sitting exposure.
Table 9 : Post hoc test results for fidget frequency for each 15-minute time block throughout the sitting exposure

List of Figures

Figure 1: A side view and frontal view of the ergonomic workstation with height adjustable chair
(covered in plastic to meet biohazard regulations), monitor, and desk
Figure 2: Typing program used for the 60-minute sitting exposure. This typing task was intended
to be similar to a typical typing task at an office
Figure 3: Backless office chair used for the 60-minute sitting exposure covered in plastic to
conform to biohazard regulations in the laboratory
Figure 4: Digital VAS program presented in the monitor for the participant to rate their pain by
sliding a bar across the line from 0mm to 100mm. Each number on the program corresponds to a
location of the neck, back, buttock and thighs
Figure 5: Catheter placed in the cubital vein of the participant
Figure 6: Electrode placement on the EEG cap (green bundle)35
Figure 7: Accelerometer placement on L1 and S2 spinous processes
Figure 8: Maximum spine extension positioning for calibration trial
Figure 9: Maximum spine flexion in the standing position for calibration trial
Figure 10: Maximum spine flexion in the seated position for calibration trial39
Figure 11: Participant seated at the ergonomic workstation instrumented with the EEG and
accelerometers

Figure 12: Baseline removed peak change in VAS scores between PD and NPD at three time
points of the one-hour sitting exposure47
Figure 13: Individual data points for the concentration (pg/mL) of IL-6, IL-10, IL-1 β and TNF-
α , pre- and post-exposure for both NPD and PD. The black dotted line and diamond data points is
a representation of the group average at each timepoint (pre and post sitting)49
Figure 14: Peak alpha frequency at baseline for each electrode of the sensorimotor cortex
between PD and NPD50
Figure 15: Normalized lumbar flexion angle for each time block throughout the 60-minute
sitting trial between PD and NPD51
Figure 16: The average change in maximum range of motion in flexion pre and post sitting52
Figure 17: Average collapsed data frequency of fidgets (number per 15-minute time block)54
Figure 18: Average collapsed data frequency of shifts (number per 15-minute time block) for PD
and NPD presented by time block55

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Health screening form	76
Appendix B: Ethics approval	77
Appendix C: Normal Q-Q plot to check for normality of the alpha frequency d	ata79

Chapter 1: Introduction and Rationale

1.1 Introduction

Low back pain (LBP) is a universal problem. It impacts up to 80-85% of the population at some point in their life and is reported to be among the leading causes of disability in most countries [1,2]. In 2015 the point prevalence of LBP was stated to be 7.3% of the global population, increasing to 7.5% in 2017 [2,3]. The global point prevalence of chronic low back pain (CLBP) in adults aged 21-69 years was reported to be 13.1% in 2009-2010 [4]. The prevalence of LBP and its impact on function renders it one of the leading causes for individuals requesting time off work globally [5]. Despite its prevalence, causative factors for LBP are not fully understood [5–7]. Musculoskeletal disorders such as LBP are often overlooked in the eyes of society as a result of social reasons, therefore, they do not garner as much attention and funding as other diseases such as cancer [8]. Despite this misguided assumption, LBP is a musculoskeletal disease which is one of the world's leading health care issues, resulting in reduced capacity for activities of daily living and imposing a substantial economic burden on society.

Societal pressures and the shift to less physically demanding desk jobs have resulted in a global epidemic of sedentary lifestyles. Although causative factors of LBP are not fully understood, we do know that prolonged postures such as spine flexion during sitting can be an aggravating factor for LBP. These postures have also been identified to induce transient LBP in individuals who are otherwise healthy [9–11]. In a systematic review, De Carvalho and colleagues (2020) have shown that sitting for 1 to 6.69 hours over five days at desk-based jobs is enough to induce clinically relevant levels of back pain, which is a cause for concern [12]. Studies included in this review included both laboratory and field settings as well as individuals with and without LBP. Evidence

suggest that individuals classified as pain developers (PD) in response to prolonged standing have a higher risk of presenting with an episode of clinical LBP within a three-year period. Currently the risk of developing a future case of LBP between sitting-induced pain groups is not known, however, this work is currently underway by our team. Given that those who report clinically relevant levels of LBP following prolonged standing have an increased likelihood of presenting to a clinic with LBP, it may be possible to use the induced pain response to identify those who may benefit from LBP prevention strategies. Therefore, it is hypothesized that this postural-induced pain response may have a role in the early identification and prevention of LBP [11].

While we know that prolonged postures such as sitting and standing can induce symptoms of back pain in some individuals, we do not fully understand why some individuals develop this response and others do not. Perhaps it has to do with individual anatomy, posture, or susceptibility to experiencing pain. The method of classifying individuals as PD versus non-pain developers (NPD) based on their subjective pain while participating in a prolonged posture study that induces LBP has been shown to be effective in pre-establishing individuals who will suffer from LBP in the future [11,13]. Furthermore, it was observed that individuals classified as PD developed LBP within three years following the study [11]. Pre-establishing individuals who will develop pain has the potential to aid in determining treatment options and pain management plans that would be personalized to an individual's expected experience with pain. In addition, determining individuals who will develop LBP following prolonged posture exposures may allow us to prevent pain development or strategize treatment options.

1.2 Purpose

This thesis will aim to explore two potential associative factors for the transient pain response throughout a laboratory-controlled prolonged sitting exposure. Specifically, this study will explore whether inflammation, instigated by tissue loading, and/or a general sensitivity to experiencing pain, play a role in the pain response. The results of this work will help to improve our understanding of the mechanisms behind the experience of pain in response to sitting in otherwise healthy individuals. In combination with additional research, this study will contribute to the ongoing body of research which aims to further investigate the development of LBP and help to inform prevention and management strategies to minimize the impact of LBP on the population.

1.3 Research Questions

1.3.1 Primary Research Questions

The primary research question asked which blood biomarkers of inflammation best reflect the transient-sitting induced pain response displayed by individuals classified as pain developers, either at baseline or after the exposure? To test this question, we exposed a sample of participants to a sitting exposure known to induce transient-sitting pain in subset of people (approximately 40%). We compared serum biomarkers of pain, pro-inflammatory cytokines, between groups of PD and NPD.

1.3.2 Secondary Research Questions

There are three secondary research aims investigated in this thesis. First, we investigated if sitting-induced PD are more sensitive to pain than NPD? To test this research question, we

compared the peak alpha-wave frequency between pain groups. Recent literature suggested that individuals who display a slower resting peak alpha-wave frequency are more sensitive to experiencing pain than those who do not [14–16].

Secondly, we were interested in understanding potential mechanisms behind the pain response displayed by individuals classified as PD. Is viscoelastic creep of the passive back tissues, evidenced by an increase in functional range of spine motion in forward flexion, occurring throughout the sitting exposure? Since repetitive flexion of the spine has been shown in animal models to result in viscoelastic creep and the presence of inflammatory markers [17], our second question explored whether inflammation was present during an exposure to prolonged sitting and may have contributed to the transient sitting-induced pain response. To indirectly test for the presence of low back creep we measured active range of spine motion using forward flexion trials before and after the sitting exposure. An increase in the range of motion would suggest that lengthening of the back tissue has occurred in response to the constant stress imparted on the spine by the effect of gravity acting on the body during sitting.

Finally, we wanted to replicate the methods of previous studies in order to better understand the questions do PD differ from NPD in the way they sit? It is currently unknown if individuals move more frequently to avoid or prevent the experience of pain or if movement precedes the pain response and potentially is an aggravating factor contributing to the development of pain. To test this, we instrumented the participants with accelerometers at the top and bottom of the low back curve (spinous processes L1 and S2) to continuously measure spine angle, and movements of the angle (shifts and fidgets) throughout the sitting exposure. We then compared the results between PD and NPD groups.

1.4 Hypotheses

1.4.1 Primary Hypothesis

Based on the literature described in section 2.6.1 Biomarkers of Inflammation we would expect there to be a significant difference in the concentration of blood biomarkers in PD compared to NPD. More specifically we would expect the concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines: IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α to have elevated concentrations in individuals classified as PD. We would also expect levels of anti-inflammatory marker IL-10 to be elevated in NPD compared to PD.

1.4.2 Secondary Hypotheses

1. We expect that PD will have a slower peak alpha frequency at rest when compared to NPD. Based on the literature we know that individuals who display a slower than normal peak alpha frequency (<9.5 Hz) at rest may be more susceptible to experiencing pain than those who display at normal peak alpha frequency at rest [14–16].

2. We expect those who experience pain and are classified as PD to have a greater increase in range of motion following the sitting exposure when compared to range of motion measured before the exposure. This would provide evidence that low back creep, and resulting tissue inflammation, could be a potential source of the pain developed throughout the sitting exposure.

3. There is conflicting evidence in the literature concerning the frequency of spine angle shifts and fidgets in individuals who display a pain response. It is not fully understood if individuals experiencing pain move more to prevent the pain or if the increased movement is

contributing to the pain experience. As a secondary objective we wish to explore this conflict in the literature further to observe if PD or NPD have increased micromovements.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Functional Anatomy of the Low Back

The spine is a crucial system for the body. It directly provides protection to the spinal cord and peripheral nerve roots, and by stabilizing the trunk segment, it facilitates motion and flexibility of the arms, legs, and head. Thus, the spine is considered to be the main supportive structure in the back [18]. The back and spinal cord are a fundamental structure for function as its structure impacts function and vice versa. The low back is responsible for nearly all of our day-to-day activities including but not limited to spinal support, upper body support, carrying loads and motion. The low back is composed mainly of bones, discs, blood vessels, ligaments, nerves, and muscle. The vertebral body is the main portion of the vertebra in the back which protects against spinal compression and allows for connection to the muscles and ligaments [19]. The vertebra are separated by fibrocartilaginous discs which are comprised of a soft nucleus pulposus centre and enclosed by tough criss-crossing layers of cartilage called lamellae [19]. The discs are important for movement and shock absorption of the vertebral body. Ligaments which extend from the vertebral body help to control joint movements, like spine bending, keeping them within safe ranges of motion to protect against tissue damage [19]. The back contains many complicated structures which are linked to function and motor control. All of the anatomical parts in the back work to stabilize the torso so that the legs and arms have a solid support from which they can generate forces and movement. Thus, optimal functioning of the back is essential for activities of daily living that include walking, bending, lifting, standing, and sitting. Thus, when affected by injury or pain, it is easy to see how many issues and complications for proper function arise when the back is not working at optimal capacity.

2.2 Pain

The definition of pain was established by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) in 1979 and began revisions in 2018. Pain is now defined by the IASP as "An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage" [20]. Pain plays an important and essential role in the protective function of the body. Nociception allows the body to sense an external stimulus which is referred to as a noxious stimulus, which creates the sensation of pain as a warning signal [21]. When we interpret this pain signal we can act to protect ourselves from the impending tissue damage by removing the noxious stimulus or ourselves from the situation [21]. Following tissue damage pain continues to play a crucial function as it aids in the healing of our tissue. Experiencing pain or tenderness when our body moves a certain way can warn us to stop this activity as it is causing harm to the tissue [21]. This is where the concept of innocuous stimuli comes in as this is a form of pain created by the immune system which helps to prevent further injury to injured or infected tissue which is defined as inflammatory pain [21]. Acute pain is an activation of a noxious stimulus which causes tissue damage that recovers. The transition from acute to chronic pain is when the pain continues to persist and there is repetitive stimuli whereas the acute period would have terminated once the tissue healed [22]. The process of repetitive activation of the stimuli in chronic pain can lead to central sensitization which leads to increased sensitization of the pain response. The increase sensitization of the pain response can lead to increased stimuli signals and increased associated responses in the brain [23].

Our individualized experience with pain is largely subjective and it has been established in the literature that our pain perception can be altered based on our mood, attention and our expectations [24]. Distracting an individual from their pain or having a positive mood has been

shown to decrease the experience of pain where on the contrary having a negative mood is shown to increase our experience with pain [25]. When we consider what pain is we have to consider the individual experience of this pain. Our experience with pain is what codes this as an unpleasant experience in our brains. Not all painful experiences are associated with negative mood or unpleasant outcomes for example a deep massage [24]. Central sensitization helps to describe the relationship between intensity of a stimulus and the way we perceive the associated pain which can contribute to the development of chronic pain in some individuals [22,26].

2.3 Clinical Low Back pain

Low back pain is generally defined as pain located between the inferior border of the ribs and the gluteal folds [27]. Pain radiating down the legs can be present or absent with LBP [27]. There is substantial heterogeneity concerning the development, progression, duration, and pathology of LBP for each individual. Numerous conditions are associated with the development of LBP as a symptom which can result from various locations of pain development. More commonly individuals who suffer from LBP are diagnosed with non-specific LBP, on average 90% of individuals will have non-specific LBP [28,29]. Non-specific LBP is when the source of the pain cannot be identified or attributed to a specific cause. When undergoing a diagnosis for nonspecific LBP the conclusion is commonly reached when no other pathology can be identified, there is no concrete classification system for the diagnosis of LBP [29]. The alternative to nonspecific LBP is specific where the source of the pain is known for example a tumour, fracture, or inflammatory arthritis. In addition to this, LBP can be classified as chronic or acute. The classification of acute or chronic LBP is based on the time experiencing pain, however this notion has been debated [30]. It is believed that shifting to a focus on patterns of pain versus timeframe may be more useful for classifying individuals [30]. Chronic LBP was commonly defined in the

past as pain in the lower back which persist for more than 3 months and acute is when the pain lasts for less than 6 weeks [29]. The amount of time that LBP persists varies for each individual and the majority of individuals will recover prior to the 3 months period. The duration of LBP can vary from one day to numerous years [31]. Individuals who suffer from debilitating LBP often have reoccurring episodes which persist for the majority of their life [32].

Causative factors contributing to the development of non-specific LBP are not fully understood but we do know non-specific back pain can be elicited because of numerous biomechanical factors. For instance, high external and internal forces acting on and within the back could stimulate pain sensors and/or damage tissue leading to injury. Repetitive motions such as bending and lifting can result in back pain. The risk of injury when bending has been shown to be related to the rate at which we bend and the history of repetitive bending [33]. A case-control study looked at the impact of lifting and back pain development, they found that individuals who lifted more than 25 pounds a day more than 25 times were three times more likely to have a prolapsed disc [34]. Even low magnitude forces could lead to problems if they are sustained for long durations. Prolonged postures, like sitting and standing, are common in many occupations and could lead to scenarios where tissues tolerance lowers over time leading to injury. Indeed, prolonged flexed postures have been associated with LBP and injuries [35]. Remaining in a flexed posture for periods of time can introduce viscoelastic tissue creep [35]. Viscoelastic tissue creep is a phenomenon where constant loading such as prolonged flexion on the spine causes the tissue to deform, following the spine being in a flexed state and deformed tissue it becomes more unstable which results in the back being more susceptible to an injury [36]. In order to prevent individuals from passing their normal range of motion as a result of tissue deformation the muscles work to provide a stable body for the back, however when the muscles are exposed to

the creep phenomenon inflammation and delayed muscle activity may occur which could result in injury [17,37].

2.4 Epidemiology of Low Back Pain

Low back pain is a musculoskeletal disorder that is extremely prevalent in today's society impacting the entire population at some point in their life [1]. Low back pain impacts both female and male adults but is slightly more prevalent in females impacting 47.0 per 1,000 person-years versus 42.2 males per 1,000 person-years [38,39]. The likelihood of developing LBP is reported to increase with age and males experience a peak in LBP between the ages of 45-64 years [39-41]. Although LBP is common and highly researched its heterogenous nature and numerous etiologies makes it challenging to accurately identify and predict. Based on the statistics that are reported we know that LBP is a global concern. In Canada alone it has been reported that the incidence rate of individuals who are suffering from LBP aged 20-69 is 18.9% [42]. The United States reports that 15% of their population is impacted by LBP at a point in time and 65%-80% of these individuals will have lifelong reoccurrence and struggles such as reduced quality of life as a cause of LBP [43]. A systematic literature review by Hoy and colleagues (2010) reported that the prevalence of LBP has a very wide range. Point prevalence ranging from 1% to 58.1% and oneyear reoccurrence ranging from 0.8% to 82.5% [1]. In addition to this they stated that the incident rate for first time LBP episodes ranged from 6.3% to 15.4% [1]. It was previously believed that LBP was largely confined to high-income countries, however, it has now been reported that middle- and low-income counties are equally impacted by the musculoskeletal disorder [44]. It is likely that the causes and impact of LBP differ between countries as a result of socioeconomic status, health care systems and also common occupations [45]. The percentage of individuals who suffer from LBP worldwide is a major epidemiological concern as it is debilitating and has a

profound impact on daily living. In a study by De Souza and Frank (2006) investigating the impact of chronic back pain they found that participants reported lack of sleep, inability to stand, inability to climb stairs, mobility issues, feelings of reduced independency, and reduced ability to participate in leisure activities [46].

Musculoskeletal disorders are often a direct cause of severe pain [47]. As a result of its increasing incidence rate LBP is now among the main reasons people seek out healthcare services and visit a physician [48]. Low back pain is a major contributor to limited activity and is ranked as one of the main reasons for needing time off work [47]. Wynne-Jones et al. (2008) conducted a study on 935 individuals experiencing LBP aged 30-59 years. They reported that 11% of individuals were limited in their employment duties and 22% of participants were taking time off work as a result of LBP [49]. Amongst the participants who reported that they were unemployed, 37% of them stated they did not work as a result of their LBP [49]. Additionally a cross-sectional study conducted by Dutmer et al., (2019) on 1502 participants suffering from LBP reported that 17% of the individuals were permanently off work as a result of LBP [50]. The financial burden of LBP is immense and include work related costs, personal costs, and healthcare costs [45]. Luo et al. (2003) conducted a secondary analysis to determine the financial burden back pain causes in the United States. They discovered that the United States spent 90.7 billion dollars in 1998 as a direct result of back pain [51]. They also reported that individuals who suffer from back pain spend nearly 60% more when compared to individuals who are pain free, likely due to all the indirect costs such as medication, health care and massage therapy [51].

LBP has a high rate of reoccurrence which elevates its burden. In a systematic review by Hestback et al., (2003) they reported that 50% of individuals who experience an episode of LBP have a reoccurring episode within one year, 60% within 2 years and 70% within 5 years [32]. The

reoccurrence rate contributes to the ongoing financial burden that society faces due to LBP. Individuals who suffer from LBP recurrently will often continue to be affected for the remainder of their lives [32]. Once an individual suffers from reoccurring LBP there are biomechanical factors which have been reported to contribute to the ongoing reoccurrence of LBP. Individuals who suffer with back pain may also form maladaptive movement control and coping skills which can lead to the further development of injury [52]. In addition to the biomechanical factors there are psychological factors which may play a role in the ongoing reoccurrence of LBP. For instance individuals who have an episode of LBP may alter their movement as a fear response to the pain and may be reluctant to participate in movement or tasks in their normal way which result in fearavoidance behaviours [53].

Many interventions have been studied for back pain and early intervention is shown to be effective in determining the outcome for individuals suffering from LBP [29]. The likelihood of recovery for individuals suffering from LBP decreases the longer they are living with the pain [29]. The United States guidelines for the treatment of LBP favour non-surgical and nonpharmacological interventions [54]. The guidelines recommend massage, acupuncture, heat therapy or spinal manipulation. In the event pharmacological intervention is required non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs are recommended or muscle relaxants [54]. In addition to this various exercises have been shown to be effective in reducing LBP and are recommended by the United States guidelines [54]. Evidence-based research has reported that certain exercise regimes can be more beneficial for individuals suffering with chronic LBP than usual care such as medication and physical therapy [55]. In a systematic review by Gordon and Bloxham, they concluded that exercises which target muscular strength and flexibility in the back are the best for chronic LBP [56]. Another systematic review conducted by Hayden et al (2005) was in

agreement stating that exercises which prioritize stretching and strengthening under direct supervision show improvement for chronic non-specific LBP [57]. Treatment is complex and there is no cure, therefore, prevention should be the top priority and there is a gap in the research concerning prevention.

2.5 Association of Sitting and LBP

Sedentary behaviour such as sitting has been observed to be an increasingly concerning issue over the past number of years. It is reported that before the Industrial Revolution individuals sat for approximately 5 hours a day compared to 15 hours a day presently for office workers [58,59]. Sitting has become an integrated part of our society within industrialized countries. Cars, trains, workplaces, and our homes have been designed to incorporate sitting. Sitting was incorporated into our daily lives to give the body and muscles time to relax, however, too much time spent sitting has been linked to a number of chronic health conditions including an increased risk of obesity, diabetes and heart disease [60,61]. Among the concerns of increased sitting time, seated postures are linked to the development of back pain and aggravation of LBP [9–11]. There are numerous biomechanical factors which are thought to play a role in the association of sedentary behaviour and back pain. Remaining in a static position over time causes static loads on the tissues, muscles tendons and ligaments and repeated loads can cause inflammation and the development of pain [62]. Chronic LBP is estimated to be 2.5 times more likely to occur in individuals who work in an office when compared to those who do not [63]. It has been reported that 63% of self-reported musculoskeletal pain is thought to be a direct result of occupational demands [64]. Of the individuals who self-report musculoskeletal pain attributed to their occupation, 34% reported the development or reoccurring LBP [64]. It is likely the increase of LBP in those who work compared to those who do not is a direct cause of prolonged flexed spine

postures that have been reported during sitting. Individuals who work in an office or at a desk are often exposed to static postures, awkward postures and low force repetitive movements [65]. Additionally, the demands, stressful atmosphere and pressure which is associated with work constraints contribute to psychosocial factors which are shown to be associated with the development of back pain [66].

2.6 Potential Pathways to Pain in Sitting

Various biomechanical processes may play a role in the development of LBP while in a static seated posture. A concept which has been noted in the literature to contribute to the development of LBP is the flexion-creep phenomenon. The flexion-creep response is the concept that the tissues stretch and deform in response to a static load over time, increasing tissue laxity and normal joint ranges of motion [67]. The deformation of the tissue is not severe enough to result in tissue failure, however, it has been hypothesized that this reduced stiffness could render the lumbar spine functionally unstable and susceptible to injury and trauma [36,67,68]. Evidence in the literature does demonstrate that creep causes desensitization of the mechanoreceptors which detect stimuli in the spinal tissues which decreases muscle activity, leaving the tissue susceptible to injury [69]. Work by Adams et al (1987) measured the lumbar range of motion of individuals in the morning and in the afternoon. They found that the range of motion in the lumbar spine increased by 5° throughout the day [68]. It was suggested that the increase in range of motion was a result of ligament viscoelasticity and the narrowing of discs due to a loss of fluid. Additional work by Adams and Dolan (1996) found that after two hours of compressive creep loading the range of motion of participants was increased by 12% [33]. Another laboratorycontrolled study conducted by Sánchez-Zuriaga et al. (2010) exposed participants to a one-hour maximal flexion sitting exposure and found the overall range of motion to increase by $2.3^{\circ} \pm 2.5^{\circ}$

[70]. They concluded that prolonged spinal flexion left the spine without protection and confirmed the increased range of motion was a result of passive tissue creep. Similar results were found with 30-minutes of maximal flexion [71]. More recently, a laboratory-controlled study conducted by Kang et al (2023) exposed participants to sub-maximal flexion sitting and also found evidence of creep deformation of viscoelastic lumbar tissue [72].

Another avenue which has been studied for the development of LBP while in a static posture is micromovements of the spine such as fidgets (movement where the spine posture changes and then goes back to its original posture) and shifts (movement where the spine posture changes and does not return to its original posture). A study evaluating the spinal micromovements in individuals suffering with sitting-aggravated LBP and comparing to asymptomatic individuals found that those with LBP displayed significantly more shifts [73]. They concluded that the increase in movement in the LBP group did help to decrease their level of pain. It has also been observed that individuals more susceptible to developing LBP (PD) display an increase in spinal movements and fidgets, therefore those classified as PD have increased muscle activity compared to NPD [13,74,75]. Contradictory to this some studies have found the opposite where NPD have increased movement. It is possible that the increased movement has a protective nature and decreases the risk of developing back pain. A recent study conducted on 60 healthy office workers evaluating the impact of shifting on discomfort while seated for one-hour found shifting to decrease discomfort [76]. In a study conducted by Greene et al., (2019) where participants were exposed to one-hour of sitting, they found that PD had significantly less spine fidgets when compared to NPD [13]. Adding to this a study by Gallagher & Callaghan (2015) evaluated spinal micromovements over 2-hours of standing in PD and NPD. They found that NPD had a higher frequency of fidgets and shifts [77]. There is conflicting evidence in this area we still do not

know what causes these micromovements and if they are a result of pain or is it protective in nature.

2.7 Sitting and the Transient Pain Phenomenon

Not to be confused with the clinical condition of LBP, a transient (i.e., goes away when getting up and moving around) sitting-induced pain response has been identified in the literature. First identified in prolonged standing studies, when a clinical threshold of meaningful increases in perceived pain were applied to datasets, two distinct groups of responses were found: individuals who exhibit no pain in response to the exposure whatsoever, and individuals who are experiencing clinically relevant levels of pain. This subtlety was historically missed when perceived discomfort scores were averaged across a population, showing increasing, but not worrisome, levels of discomfort in response to longer exposures to static postures. Currently, several research groups have consistently demonstrated the presence of these groups and a systematic review in 2020 showed that this response is present regardless of setting (laboratory versus field) or clinical status (healthy versus LBP) [12].

Various studies have classified individuals as PD and NPD [11,74,78–80]. The classification of PD and NPD uses a clinical minimal difference in the change of pain experienced throughout the postural exposure. Participants were classified as PD if they reported a 10mm or greater increase in pain throughout the sitting exposure. It has been found in the literature that 40% of individuals will be classified as PD and 60% as NPD throughout the standing exposure. A similar portion of PD and NPD were found throughout prolonged sitting exposures [74,80]. These studies have also shown a significant difference between pain groups which shows that PD have a significantly greater pain response. In a large laboratory-controlled study there were no differences in the

seated muscle activity and spine posture, or pre/post flexion range of motion found between PD and NPD groups [13]. Thus, it is unclear where this pain originates from nor what it might signal. Despite this uncertainty, classifying healthy individuals as PD and NPD might be useful in understanding sitting-induced pain as a potential pre-clinical state of LBP. A study conducted by Nelson-Wong and Callaghan (2014) followed participants over the course of three years and found that participants who were classified as PD in a standing-induced pain exposure were at greater risk of developing acute LBP within the follow up period [11] and we hypothesize this holds true for sitting-induced pain groups.

2.8 Subjective Measures of Pain

As stated above, pain is largely subjective and dependent on the individual's experience. Because the nature of pain is so individualized, it can be difficult to accurately measure pain [81]. Despite this it is not always feasible to measure an individual's pain objectively so there are subjective non-invasive ways of measuring pain. Clinical pain assessment is frequently measured using the visual analog scale (VAS), verbal rating scale (VRS) and the numerical rating scale (NRS)[82]. The VAS is an established tool for measuring pain and is reported to be both valid and reliable [82]. The VAS consists of a 100mm line where the zero on the left side means no pain, and 100 on the right side means the worst pain imaginable. These anchors are important to define as it allows for the individual rating their pain to understand where their experienced pain would be on this continuum. The VAS can be used digitally and also on paper. One would mark a line across the continuum where they feel their experienced pain is, however, they cannot see what number between 0 and 100 they are choosing.

2.9 Objective Measures Relevant to the Experience of Pain

2.9.1 Biomarkers of Inflammation

Biomarkers can be measured within the body to help inform on certain bodily functions and characteristics. Specific biomarkers can be associated with certain outcomes or diseases which provide information about the functionality or state of the body. Many disorders and diseases associated with chronic pain have been linked to an increase in proinflammatory biomarkers in the plasma of the blood [83]. Proinflammatory cytokines can play a role in modulating nociception [84]. Upon the release of inflammatory markers they can excite or cause sensitization to the nociceptors which result in the experience of pain [85]. It has been established in the literature that classic inflammatory biomarkers such as cytokines or C-reactive proteins are elevated in individuals suffering from non-specific LBP [83,86,87]. Despite the ongoing research known biomarkers which can accurately predict LBP do not currently exist.

Common cytokines involved in the inflammatory process and following injury are interleukin-1B (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), nerve growth factor and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), interferon- γ and transforming growth factor- β [22,88]. IL-6 and various other cytokines are involved in the acute inflammatory response. One particular role of IL-6 specifically is that it can be both harmful and also have a protective nature [89]. In an acute response to stimuli IL-6 can suppress proinflammatory cytokines and it can also increase the concentration of IL-1 which is an anti-inflammatory cytokine. The inflammatory cytokine, IL-6 has a large variety of biological purposes. Elevated IL-6 has been observed in pathological pain models and the administration of IL-6 has been reported to cause pain-related behaviours [90]. Both IL-6 and TNF- α are able to impact each other's levels of production [91]. TNF- α is another proinflammatory marker which

is produced by various types of cells as a response to environmental stimuli, inflammation and injury [92]. Blocking TNF can be useful for chronic inflammatory disease [93]. IL-1 β is another highly studied proinflammatory biomarker and is the main cytokine which is studied in the IL-1 family because of its role in inflammation [94]. In addition to proinflammatory markers which are found in inflammation there are anti-inflammatory markers which do the opposite. Antiinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-10 (IL-10) work to inhibit and eliminate inflammatory markers [95].

Various studies have looked at the concentration of proinflammatory cytokines to inform on their role in the experience and development of pain. A study which compared the levels of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory markers in patients with painless neuropathy, painful neuropathy and healthy controls found that patients with painful neuropathy had significantly higher levels of TNF compared to controls [96]. They also evaluated other cytokines including the anti-inflammatory marker IL-10 which they found to be elevated in patients with painless neuropathy compared to painful neuropathy.

There are also various studies which have researched the role of proinflammatory and antiinflammatory markers in individuals experiencing nonspecific LBP. A recent systematic review discovered that there is a positive correlation between the severity of non-specific LBP and proinflammatory biomarkers [97]. More specifically they found moderate evidence yet conflicting evidence that as the severity of non-specific LBP increased so did the concentration of C-reactive proteins, TNF- α and IL-6. Furthermore a recent systematic review conducted by Lim et al., (2020) supported the systematic review by van den Berg et al., (2018) that nonspecific LBP was positively correlated with C-reactive proteins, TNF- α and IL-6 [87]. Additional research in

the area confirmed the thought that IL-6 increases in individuals experiencing LBP. A study that compared individuals with chronic LBP compared to age-matched controls found that IL-6 was significantly higher in individuals with LBP [98]. They also found that the anti-inflammatory marker IL-10 was lower in individuals who were experiencing LBP. Adding to this base of knowledge Teodorczyk-Injeyan et al., (2019) took blood samples from individuals suffering from both chronic and acute LBP and asymptomatic controls. The results showed elevated levels of proinflammatory markers, Il-6, IL-1 β and TNF- α and their ratio to anti-inflammatory marker IL-10 in both acute and chronic LBP groups when compared to controls [99].

Although much of the research which looks at individuals who already have experienced LBP or are suffering from chronic LBP found similar findings a recent study by Carter et al. (2021) investigated inflammation in healthy asymptomatic desk workers after sitting uninterrupted for 6hours. They found contradicting evidence to what is previously identified in the context of LBP. They found no significant differences in inflammation for IL-6 and TNF- α following the sitting exposure [86]. The findings in this study contradicted their hypothesis, they reported that the inflammatory marker results may have been due to the use of saliva testing as opposed venous. They did not stratify their sample based on PD and NPD which could have been a potential explanation for their findings. The response may have been different in individuals who were experiencing pain (PD) when compared to those who were not (NPD).

2.9.2 Electroencephalography

Electroencephalography (EEG) is reported to be among one of the greatest instruments for noninvasively observing activity in the brain which can tell us a lot about both cognition functioning and disease [100]. Neurons in the human brain communicate with one another using electrical signals and this electrical activity can be measured and recorded using EEG [101]. The EEG measures the electric fields generated by populations of active neurons [101]. Neural oscillations or brainwaves can be observed in the brain with the EEG which can help to inform us of what is going on in the brain. These oscillations are rhythmic patterns of the neurons activity [100]. We can measure neural oscillations at different frequencies. Different neural oscillation can be associated with different processes that are occurring in the brain. Some of these brain processes associated with specific wave patterns are alertness, deep sleep, dreaming and cognitive functioning [102]. These frequencies are characterized as delta (<4Hz), theta (4-8 Hz), alpha (8-13 Hz), beta (13-30 Hz), and gamma (50-90 Hz). To measure the electrical activity from outside the brain, electrodes are placed on the scalp using a fitted cap. Electrodes placement on the EEG cap commonly follows the international 10-20 system. The 10-20 system for electrode placement is based on brain structure landmarks which place the electrodes in fixed locations to cover all brain regions and take into account differing head sizes [103].

More recently in the literature it has been observed that an individual's peak alpha frequency recorded in the brain's cortex has been associated with an individual's sensitivity to chronic pain [15,16]. The alpha band is one of the most commonly researched brain oscillations because of its stability and unique aspect between individuals [104,105]. The alpha frequency is the primary frequency for a relaxed state and is related to cognitive function and the central nervous system [106]. The alpha band frequency is mainly recorded at resting state with an EEG and is predominate in the occipital and somatosensory cortices [107,108]. Changes in the resting alpha band frequency have been observed in individuals experiencing both chronic pain and experimentally induced pain [14,15,109–111]. Nir et al. (2010) conducted a study with the aim of investigating peak alpha frequency in the central, temporal, and frontal brain regions as an

objective measure of pain compared to a subjective measure of pain [15]. To do so they measured peak alpha using EEG in a resting state, innocuous temperature, and a noxious temperature. They found the subjective and objective pain measures were correlated in the noxious condition, concluding that resting state peak alpha may be a good indicator of pain sensitivity. In addition to this Furman et al. (2018) observed peak alpha frequency in a pain-free state preceding a pain induction state using the heat capsaicin model [14]. They found that a slower peak alpha frequency in the pain-free state were linked to higher pain development in the pain state, concluding that a slower peak alpha frequency at rest was correlated with heightened pain sensitivity. To add to this body of research Furman et al. (2020) then observed peak alpha frequency using EEG while their participants were induced with pain using the heat-capsaicin and phasic heat models to investigate if heightened pain sensitivity could also be a predisposition to pain development [16]. They concluded that the peak alpha frequency at rest was negatively correlated with subjective pain rating, thus peak alpha frequency was a reliable marker for short and long periods [16]. In addition to experimentally induced pain, individuals with chronic LBP were observed to have a negative correlation between subjective pain ratings and peak alpha frequency and indicated peak alpha frequency as a possible useful tool for clinical LBP measurement [112]. Therefore, peak alpha frequency may indicate individuals who are more susceptible to experiencing chronic pain as indicated by both clinical and experimental models.

2.10 Purpose of the Study

This was the first study to look at two potential theories explaining the transient pain response. The purpose of the current study is to explore these two potential explanations for the transient pain response in sitting: inflammation secondary to viscoelastic creep and an inherent increased sensitivity to pain as indicated by a lower peak alpha frequency.
2.11 Research Objectives

The main objective of the current study was to explore the transient sitting-induced pain response throughout an established prolonged sitting exposure. To do so, we used a pre-established 60-minute sitting exposure, which has been shown to induce transient but clinically meaningful levels of perceived back pain in a proportion of individuals [13]. We explored a potential mechanism for the participant's subjective experience of pain using biological markers of pain (EEG and blood biomarkers of inflammation). This allowed us to test whether those classified as PD display a different inflammatory profile than NPDs, and/or are more susceptible to pain. A secondary objective of the current study was to measure spine angles and their movements, and changes in spine flexion range of motion across the sitting exposure and compare the results between the PD and NPD groups.

2.12 Significance of Study

This was the first study to examine potential exploratory factors for the development of transient sitting-induced pain during the 60-minute siting exposure. Understanding this mechanism will help researchers learn what might be different between individuals identified as PD and NPD, and may be advantageous for understanding why some individuals develop back pain while sitting while others do not. In addition, group establishment will allow us to investigate if the transient sitting-induced phenomenon is related to some individuals' sensitivity to pain. The ability to identify the reasons why the pain response occurs may allow us to control the experience and implement tailored prevention and care strategies.

Chapter 3: Methods

3.1 Study Design

This study is a observational analytic design and therefore we followed the strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) checklist for this manuscript [113].

3.2 Setting

This study took place in a laboratory in the Health Science Centre, St. John's, Newfoundland, and Labrador, Canada. A portion of the data analysis was conducted by EVE Technologies in Calgary, Alberta, Canada. Participants were recruited from January 2023 to April 2023. Data collection was conducted from February 2023 to April 2023.

3.3 Participants

Participants were recruited from the local community (St. John's, NL) and university (Memorial University) population. Our justification for largely recruiting from a local and university population was mainly for convenience. Additionally, university students are committed to participating in research and are typically familiar with seated deskwork without interruption which resembles the sitting exposure in this study. We used the Health Research Ethics Board (HREB) template poster advertisements on announcement boards around campus, advertisements to the general university population, social media recruitment (Facebook and Twitter), and inclass verbal script recruitment. Fifty healthy, pain free adults (≥18 years) participated in this study. "Pain free" was defined as individuals who reported less than 10 mm on a digital VAS at the time of the study session. We targeted pain free individuals so that there was no pre-existing

pain which would interfere with the subjective or objective pain ratings obtained throughout the sitting exposure.

Our exclusion criteria were evaluated using a health screening form (Appendix A) which screened for any individuals reporting a subjective pain rating greater than 10 mm on a 100mm digital VAS, diabetes, high blood pressure or inflammatory disease, severe chronic pain (> 4 pain days/month for at least three months), neurological disease, disorder or injury, psychiatric disorder, cognitive impairment, pregnancy, or communicable disease (hepatitis C, HIV). Eligible participants were scheduled for one 2.5-hour session at our Laboratory.

Ethics approval was received from the Health Research Ethics Board of Newfoundland and Labrador (#2021.126) (Appendix B). All of the participants reviewed a study information letter and completed a consent form and a health screening form upon arrival prior to commencing the study to ensure their eligibility to participate.

3.4 Sample Size Calculation

The sample size calculation was performed based on the inflammatory marker dataset size, which is needed, this was described as the required number of participants to detect a clinically significant difference between the concentration of blood biomarkers of inflammation between two groups with an alpha level of 0.05 [114]. The calculation found a need for 27 participants. We recruited 50 participants to account for unbalanced PD and NPD groups. We recruited 50 participants to ensure we had at minimum 60% NPD and 40% PD but ideally we wanted to get 50% NPD and 50% PD. The increase in sample size increased our chances of matched groups.

3.5 Remuneration

Participants received \$20 as compensation for volunteering for this study. The remuneration was provided to assist with travel and parking costs associated with participating in the study. Participants were not required to complete the entire protocol in order to receive the compensation.

3.6 Instrumentation

3.6.1 Setup

Prior to arrival at the laboratory, participants were emailed the health screening form to confirm their eligibility. Once their eligibility to participate was confirmed we booked them in for a onetime session at the laboratory. In preparation for the session participants were asked to refrain from smoking or consuming alcohol and/or caffeine for 8-hours prior to the session. They were also asked to avoid pain or anti-inflammatory medications such as ibuprofen or acetaminophen, and strenuous exercise for 24-hours prior to the session. We also asked that participants have clean, dry, and product free hair on the day of the session. Finally we asked that participants not chew gum throughout the session.

Upon arrival at the laboratory participants were asked to complete the consent form and details of the collection were provided. Participants were given the opportunity to ask any questions they may have had prior to starting the collection. We then asked the participants to provide their age, height, and mass and these were recorded by a member of the research team. We also measured the participants head upon arrival so that a member of the research team could place electrodes in the appropriate cap. Participants were then familiarized with the lab space, set up at an ergonomic workstation (adjusting seat, desk, and monitor height to match ergonomic standards and individual preference) and introduced to the VAS and typing programs. After the introduction to the VAS we asked the participants to complete a baseline pain rating.

3.6.2 Ergonomic Workstation

Participants were set up with an ergonomic workstation to complete the 60-minute typing task upon arrival at the laboratory (Figure 1). The typing task (Figure 2) was presented on a monitor in front of the participants at the ergonomic workstation using a custom-written software (MATLAB 2017, The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). Participants were given the choice between four stories. A portion of the story text was presented when pressing "start" and they would copy the text into the space below. Once they pressed "enter" on the keyboard the story would continue and the next paragraph would appear.

The workstation consisted of a height adjustable backless chair, office desk, and monitor. The desktop computer was set up with a wired mouse and keyboard for the participant to use. The height of all components were adjusted specifically to the participant following the Canadian Center for Occupational Health and Safety and the methods in Green et al. (2019) [13,115]. A member of the research team ensured the participant kept their feet on the floor with their knees at a 90° angle (did not stand, cross their legs, or sit on their legs) and had their elbows at a 90° angle. A backless adjustable office chair (Figure 3) was used to accommodate the accelerometer sensors which were affixed on the participants back.



Figure 1: A side view and frontal view of the ergonomic workstation with height adjustable chair (covered in plastic to meet biohazard regulations), monitor, and desk.

ID: [Figure on the left is a side view of the ergonomic workstation containing a seat pain covered in plastic, a desk, a monitor, keyboard, and mouse.]



Figure 2: Typing program used for the 60-minute sitting exposure. This typing task was intended to be similar to a typical typing task at an office.

[Typing program shown on a monitor screen, words with a start and stop button]



Figure 3: Backless office chair used for the 60-minute sitting exposure covered in plastic to conform to biohazard regulations in the laboratory.

ID: [Seat pan covered in plastic wrapped]

3.6.3 Visual Analog Scale

Participants rated their pain using the digital 100mm VAS (Figure 4). The VAS was presented on a monitor in front of the participants using a custom-written software (Matlab version 2017, The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). When a member of the research team instructed the participant to rate their pain they would slide the bar along a 100mm scale. The location of the bar corresponded to their perceived level of pain at that time with anchors 0mm = no pain and 100mm = worst pain imaginable. Once they rated their pain and hit save the ratings disappeared so that when they rated their pain the next time they could not see their previous ratings. They rated their pain for 9 body locations: neck, left upper back (1), right upper back (2), left lower back (3), right lower back (4), left glute (5), right glute (6), left upper leg (7) and right upper leg (8). The body locations were presented as a number shown on a diagram on the presented VAS.



Figure 4: Digital VAS program presented in the monitor for the participant to rate their pain by sliding a bar across the line from 0mm to 100mm. Each number on the program corresponds to a location of the neck, back, buttock and thighs.

ID: [Pain rating visual analog scale presented on a monitor screen]

3.6.4 Blood Biomarkers of Inflammation

A research nurse collected blood from the participants to assess the changes in concentration of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines from baseline to post-pain induction. The research nurse first assessed both cubital veins to determine the best side for the blood withdrawal. In the event the participant requested a specific arm the nurse assessed that one first. Once the arm was chosen, a tourniquet (Lat free 1x8 NLTB118BX, Eastern Health Stores) was placed to increase pressure, and the skin area of the cubital area was prepped with an alcohol pad (Loris antiseptic isopropyl alcohol pad, Eastern Health Stores). Blood samples (5ml each before and after the sitting trial) were extracted using a catheter (BX/50 Insyte Vialon Peripheral Venous IV Catheter, 24g X0.75" Yellow., Life Supply., Surrey, BC, Canada) placed in the cubital vein (Figure 5) by the research nurse and placed in vacutainers with EDTA anti-coagulant (Vacutainers 6ml Lavender, Life Supply, Surrey, BC, Canada). The catheter was left in for the sitting trial. Prior to collecting the second blood sample, the vein was flushed with saline (Syringe N/S 10ml Sterile Path, Eastern Health Stores, St. John's, NL, Canada) and the saline was extracted from the vein and discarded.



Figure 5: Catheter placed in the cubital vein of the participant.

ID: [Catheter inserted in the participants arm filled with blood and covered in clear tape]

3.6.5 Electroencephalography

EEG was used to measure brain activity in order to analyze peak alpha frequencies. Head circumference of the participant was measured upon arrival by placing a measuring tape around the forehead and to the back of the head crossing over the inion. Based on this measurement, we chose a cap (standard 64Ch actiCAP Electrode cap) from a selection of four (54cm, 56cm, 58cm and 60cm). When the participant's head was between cap sizes we choose to size down to optimize the fit and improve signal quality. The appropriate cap was instrumented with 32-electrodes (green bundle shown in Figure 6) and positioned according to the 10-20 system for electrode placement. We placed three dots on the forehead with a dry erase marker which marked where electrodes Fp1, Fp2 and the ground were placed. To place the ground in the correct location we measured the distance from the nasal bridge to the inion located on the back of the

head. We divided this value by 10 and used it as the distance from the nasal bridge to the center of the forehead and marked a dot with a dry erase marker. We then divided the head circumference by 20 and used it to mark a dot from the previously marked central dot to the left and right using this value. We placed the cap on the participant's head and ensured electrodes Fp1, Fp2 and the ground lined up with the dots marked on the forehead.

Once the cap was correctly placed on the participant's head and all the active electrodes (Brain Products GmbH, Gilching, Germany) were inserted into the cap, two members of the research team started to apply the electrolyte gel (SuperVisc 1000g High Viscosity Gel, 10% salt concentration, EasyCap, Wörthsee, GER) through the electrodes to the scalp using a blunt needle (1" Blunt needles - 16 gauge, Brain Vision Solutions INC, MTL, CAN) and syringe (syringe 10ml Luer-lock, Brain Vision INC Solutions, MTL, CAN). The gel provided a connection between the scalp and electrodes. We first inserted gel into the ground electrode and the reference electrode. Once both the reference and the ground electrode displayed an impedance less than $10k\Omega$ in the Brain Vision Recorder software we continued to apply gel to the remaining electrodes. Lower impedance reflects a better connection between the electrode and the scalp, and will result in higher quality signal being recorded. We kept impedance below $10k\Omega$ for each electrode before recording the 5-minute sessions. We continued to monitor the impedance for the entirety of the session, inserting more gel or adjusting the electrodes when necessary. The 5minute sessions were recorded using the Brain Visions Recorder software and an ActiChamp EEG amplifier (ActiChamp, Brain Products GmbH, Gilching, Germany). EEG signals were recorded at a sampling rate of 500 Hz.



Figure 6: Electrode placement on the EEG cap (green bundle).

ID: [A map of the electrode placement for the electroencephalography cap with electrodes shown in numbers and bundles in yellow and green colour]

3.6.6 Accelerometers

Accelerometer signals were used to calculate time-varying measures of the relative lumbar spine angle, shifts and fidgets of the spine angle throughout the sitting exposure, and range of motion before and after the sitting exposure. Two tri-axal accelerometers (ADXL335, Analog Devices, Norwood, MA, USA) were positioned over the L1 and S2 spinous processes (Figure 7). The accelerometers were placed in the +y down, +z anterior orientation, fixed with double sided (Scotch, 3M, St. Paul, MN, USA.) and secured with medical fabric tape (Hypafix®, BSN Medical, Hamburg, Germany). Signals were sampled at 1024 Hz with a 16-bit A/D board (Optotrak Data Acquisition System, 3D Investigator, Northern Digital Inc., Waterloo, ON, Canada).



Figure 7: Accelerometer placement on L1 and S2 spinous processes.

ID: [Accelerometer sensors placed on the spinous processes directly on the skin with the cords taped to the shoulder of the participant and the sensors covered in medical tape]

3.7 Data Collection

Upon arrival to the laboratory a member of the research team explained to the participant the protocol and asked them to complete the consent form. The participant was then asked to sit at the ergonomic workstation and the height of the desk, chair and monitor was adjusted to the participant. We then introduced the VAS and allowed the participant to complete a baseline pain rating. Following the pain rating the participant laid prone on the therapy plinth where a member of the research team palpated their back to locate L1 and S2. Once the vertebrae were located a mark was placed to indicate where the accelerometer should be placed. The participant was then asked to stand up so that the accelerometer sensors could be placed on L1 and S2 and secured

with Hypafix[®] (BSN Medical, Hamburg, Germany) tape. Once the accelerometers were securely placed we commenced the calibration trials. Calibration trials were collected to normalize to the end range of flexion motion so that the data could be compared between participants. A total of four 5-second calibration trials were recorded: upright standing, maximum spine extension (Figure 8) where the participant was instructed to arch their back to their maximal limit without bending their legs or knees, maximum spine flexion in the standing position (Figure 9) where the participant was instructed to arch as far forward aiming to touch their toes without bending their hips or knees and maximum seated flexion (Figure 10) where the participant was instructed to arch as far forward aiming to touch their trials and all of the movements were first demonstrated by a member of the research team.



Figure 8: Maximum spine extension positioning for calibration trial.

ID: [Participant extending their back to their maximum position]



Figure 9: Maximum spine flexion in the standing position for calibration trial.

ID: [Participant bending forward to their maximum position with their neck tucked in and hands touching the floor]



Figure 10: Maximum spine flexion in the seated position for calibration trial.

ID: [Participant seated on a seat pan covered in plastic flexing forward with their hands touching the floor and extended back to their maximum position]

Once the flexion trials were completed, we asked the participant to sit down as we instrumented the EEG cap (Figure 11). We first marked out the placements for the electrodes on the forehead then placed the cap on the participant's head. We allowed the participant to secure the straps of the cap themselves and instructed them to secure it tightly but to ensure they were comfortable. We then measured the placement of the cap to ensure it was situated properly and before inserting the ground electrode we lined it up with the markings on the forehead. Once the cap was appropriately situated we started to insert the gel, we first inserted the gel into the ground, FP1 and FP2 electrodes. Once these electrodes were less than $10k\Omega$ impedance we continued inserting gel into the remaining electrodes. Once all of the electrodes were less than $10k\Omega$ in the laboratory were off and the room was silent. We instructed the participant to stay seated with their eyes closed during this time.

Following the EEG recording the research nurse took 5ml of blood from the participant's cubital vein. If the blood withdrawal was not successful, the nurse would attempt multiple times until extracting blood or until the nurse deemed it unnecessary to continue or the participant opted out. We then directed the participant to the ergonomic workstation where they rated their pain on the VAS for a second time before starting the typing task. We asked the participant to choose between four standard report text options to transcribe. The participant was informed that during the sitting trial they would not be able to stand up or sit on their feet, otherwise they were free to sit and type as they normally would. The 60-minute sitting trial was then started. Throughout this trial we collected continuous data from the accelerometers. At 30 and 60 minutes we asked the participant to complete a third and fourth pain rating on the VAS and we recorded the brain waves for another 5 minutes under the same conditions and instructions as the first recording. At 60-minutes we took another 5ml of blood. Finally, we asked the participant to stay seated and completed the maximum spine flexion in the seated position trials 3 times.



Figure 11: Participant seated at the ergonomic workstation instrumented with the EEG and accelerometers.

ID: [Participant seated at the ergonomic workstation facing the monitor which has the typing task on it and keyboard on the desk. The participant's head is instrumented with the EEG cap.]

3.8 Data Analysis

3.8.1 Self-reported Pain Ratings

Self-reported pain ratings were extracted from the digital VAS. The numbers were automatically extracted by the program and exported to a Microsoft Excel (Version 16.66) spreadsheet using MATLAB. The pain rating from each time point corresponded to the distance in millimetres (mm) between 0 mm and the point to which the participant had dragged the slider on the horizontal scale. Group classification of PD and NPD were based on these subjective pain

ratings. A change in pain from baseline greater than or equal to 10mm, from any body region and at any point during the trial was considered a clinically relevant increase in pain and established the individual as a PD. Pain rating that remained below 10 mm established the individual as a NPD. This is modified slightly from the literature [116] which uses the back region only. This decision was made because we assume that biomarkers of inflammation and peak alpha frequency would be less specific to body location versus pain intensity.

3.8.2 Concentration of Biomarkers of Inflammation

At the end of the data collection, once the participant left the laboratory, blood samples were centrifuged at 4 degrees Celsius at a speed of 3000 rpm for 15-minutes to separate plasma from cells. The EDTA plasma was then transferred into 0.6ml MCT tubes (Low-Retention 0.6ml MCT Snap Tops, Fisher Scientific Company., Ottawa, ON, Canada). We stored and froze one sample of 0.2ml and three samples of 0.6ml in a freezer safe MCT box (Argos Technologies PolarSafe, Fisher Scientific Company, Ottawa, ON, Canada). The samples were then stored in an onsite Thermo scientific freezer at -80 degrees Celsius until the end of the study.

At the end of the study, the 0.2ml pre and post samples were packaged in dry ice and shipped by courier to Eve Technologies Corporation in Calgary, Alberta. Human high sensitivity T-helper cells custom assay for interleukin 10 (IL-10), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) was conducted. The results of the concentration of blood biomarkers of inflammation were determined in picograms per millilitre (pg/ml). The remaining blood samples were kept in the freezer at Memorial University for future analysis and then disposed of according to the Memorial University's Biosafety Standard Operating Procedures (BSOP-01).

3.8.3 Electroencephalography Data

The 5-minute EEG recordings were analyzed using the Letswave (version 7) toolbox in Matlab (Version 2017, The MathWorks, Nattick, MA, USA). EEG data files were read into the software and processed. A high pass filter with a 0.1Hz cut-off was applied and data were re-referenced by using the electrodes to the common average. Last, a Fast Fourier Transform was applied to the signal and the frequency at which peak alpha occurred within the alpha range (8-12 Hz) was extracted. The 9 electrodes (F3, Fz, F4, C3, Cz, C4, P3, Pz and P4) of interest in the somatosensory cortex were used for analysis.

3.8.4 Accelerometer

The accelerometer data were processed using a custom code (Matlab Version 2017, The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). The custom code extracted spine angles, shifts and fidgets from the collected data according to methods previously outlined in Green et al. (2019) [13]. Accelerometers were calibrated with respect to gravity and the data were converted from voltages to accelerations\and the data were smoothed using a dual-pass 2nd order Butterworth filter with a 1 Hz cut-off filter [117]. Spine angles were calculated from the absolute inclinations. Lumbar angles were then calculated as the relative angle between L1 and S2, and the pelvic angle was taken as the inclination of S2 with respect to vertical. Lumbar angle was normalized using the maximum low back range of motion which was obtained in the calibration trials. From the processed time-varying data, average low back flexion angle, and frequency (#/time block) of low back fidgets (movement where the spine posture changes and does not return to its original posture) and shifts (movement where the spine posture changes and does not return to its original posture) were calculated for each 15-minute block of the 60-minute sitting. The threshold for a

fidget was set at 3 standard deviations, a window length of 60 seconds and a fidget length of 5 seconds. The threshold for a shift was 10 degrees and the width of the reference baseline was set to 60 seconds. The accelerometer data was analyzed using 15-minute time blocks where each 15-minutes was considered a trial to equal a total of 4 trials throughout the 60-minute sitting exposure.

3.9 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics (mean and standard deviation) for age, height, and weight were computed for PD and NPD groups. A two-way univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA) was completed for peak pain rating in any body region with a between-factor of pain group (NPD, PD) and a within-factor of time (baseline, 30-minutes, and 60-minutes). A two-way multivariate ANOVA was completed for biomarker concentration (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, and TNF- α) with a betweenfactor of pain group (NPD, PD) and within-factor of time (baseline and post-exposure). An independent t-test was completed to compare the peak alpha frequency at each electrode of interest at baseline with pain group as a between factor (PD and NPD). Separate two-way univariate ANOVAs were completed for average normalized lumbar flexion angle, and the average fidget and shift frequency each with a between-factor of pain group (NPD, PD) and a within-factor of time (four 15-minute time blocks). Tukey post hoc tests was completed for significant main effects. A two-way univariate ANOVA were completed for maximum range of flexion with a between-factor of pain group (NPD, PD) and a within-factor of time (baseline and post-exposure). All statistical analysis were completed using SPSS (v#27, IBM SPSS Statistics), with significance accepted at p < 0.05.

Chapter 4: Results

4.1 Participant Characteristics

Data from a total of 50 participants were collected for this study. 28 participants were females and 22 were males. The average age was 30.58 years (\pm 14.41), the average height was 171.52cm (\pm 10.20) and the average mass was 74.92 kg (\pm 17.30).

4.2 Missing data

Details concerning the missing data are displayed in Table 1. We were unable to retrieve a blood sample from one participant, therefore, the blood analysis is only including 49 participants. Technical issues resulted in some lost accelerometer data (one 15-minute block each for four participants). We did not exclude these participants from the analyses, instead, four participants only had three 15-minute accelerometer trials analyzed compared to the four that were recorded.

Table 1:	Missing	data for	all	outcome measures	collected.
----------	---------	----------	-----	------------------	------------

Blood Analysis					
Number of participants	Number of participants	Group Classification of			
implicated	included in the analysis	excluded participant			
1	49	NPD			
Prolonged Sitting Exposure Analysis					
Number of participants	Number of participants	Group Classification of			
implicated	included in the analysis	affected participant			
4	50	PD: 2, NPD: 2			

4.3 Pain Ratings

The average baseline pain rating upon entry into the lab before commencing the session was

0.1mm (± 0.6) left upper back, 0.3mm (± 1.2) right upper back, 0.35mm (± 1.3) left lower back,

0.6mm (\pm 1.7) right lower back, 0.4mm (\pm 1.8) left gluteal region, 0.4 (\pm 1.9) right gluteal region,

 $0mm (\pm 0.1)$ right upper leg, $0mm (\pm 0)$ right upper leg and $1.3mm (\pm 4.1)$ neck.

4.3.1 Pain Group Classification

Twenty-nine participants were classified as PD, and 21 were classified as NPD. The group characteristics for each are displayed in Table 2 and peak pain ratings for each group and their associated location are shown in Table 3.

Table 2: Grou	p charac	eteristics	for	PD	and	NPD.
---------------	----------	------------	-----	----	-----	------

	Pain Developers	Non Pain Developers
Sample size (% of total n)	29 (58%)	21(42%)
Sex	Females: 18	Females: 10
	Males: 11	Males: 11
Age	31.28 years ± 15.60	29.62 years ± 12.92
Height (cm)	$170.21 \text{ cm} \pm 8.05$	$173.33 \text{ cm} \pm 12.59$
Mass (kg)	$72.10 \text{ kg} \pm 15.39$	78.81 kg ± 19.34

Pain Developers							
Upper Back	Lower Back	Total Peak					
					Rating		
9.9mm ±	13.1mm ±	5.2mm ± 8.6	1.4 mm ± 4.1	5.2 mm \pm 7.5	19.5mm ±		
10.3	11.6				9.1		
Non Pain Developers							
Upper Back	Lower Back	Buttock	Upper Legs	Neck	Total Peak		
					Rating		
3.1 mm ± 3.7	2.7mm ± 3.2	1.0 mm ± 2.0	0.3 mm ± 0.7	1.1 mm ± 2.3	5.1mm ± 3.3		

Table 3: Average peak pain rating for PD and NPD and their associated location.

There was a significant interaction between pain group and time for peak pain rating (F (2,3) =18.836, p <.001, η^2 =.207). PDs continued to increase their pain between timepoints 2 and 3 whereas NPDs did not (Figure 12).



Figure 12: Baseline removed peak change in VAS scores between PD and NPD at three time points of the one-hour sitting exposure.

4.4 Biomarkers of Inflammation

No significant interactions between pain group and time, and no main effects for time were found for the biomarkers of inflammation (Table 4). Specifically, concentrations of biomarkers of inflammation did not significantly change throughout the sitting trial. However, there was a significant main effect for pain group for both IL-6 (p = 0.004) and IL-10 (p = 0.001). As displayed in Figure 13, NPDs had significantly higher levels of IL-6 (7.71 ± 10.56) and IL-10 (24.41 ± 29.01) compared to PD levels of IL-6 (3.08 ± 4.26) and IL-10 (10.18 ± 10.65), which indicates group differences. There were no significant main effects for pain group for IL-1 β and TNF- α (Figure 13).

	Biomarker	df	F	p-value	Partial Eta
					Squared
Time	IL-1β	1	.088	.767	.001
	IL-6	1	.185	.668	.002
	IL-10	1	.026	.871	.000
	TNF-α	1	.016	.900	.000
Pain Group	IL-1β	1	3.819	.054	.039
	IL-6	1	8.872	.004*	.086
	IL-10	1	11.478	.001*	.109
	TNF-α	1	.176	.676	.002
Pain Group *	IL-1β	1	.000	.984	.000
Time	IL-6	1	.050	.823	.001
	IL-10	1	.013	.909	.000
	TNF-α	1	.018	.893	.000

Table 4: ANOVA test results for biomarker	s.
--	----



Figure 13: Individual data points for the concentration (pg/mL) of IL-6, IL-10, IL-1 β and TNF- α , pre- and post-exposure for both NPD and PD. The black dotted line and diamond data points is a representation of the group average at each timepoint (pre and post sitting).

4.5 EEG Results

4.5.1 Peak Alpha Frequency at Baseline

A Q-Q plot was created for each electrode of interest to assess if the EEG data followed a normal distribution (Appendix C). The Q-Q plots suggest normality was met as only a small amount of data points in each Q-Q plot deviated substantially from the normality line. The independent sample t-test did not reveal any significant differences between peak alpha frequency for pain groups and the nine electrodes of interest in the sensorimotor cortex at baseline. The result of the independent t-test are displayed in Table 5 and graphed in Figure 14.

Table 5: The t-test results for peak alpha frequency at baseline for each sensorimotor cortex

 electrode.

Electrode	t	df	p-value	95% Confidence
				Interval
F3	.650	48	.519	-4.5533, .89059
Fz	075	48	.940	69842, .64793
F4	.327	48	.745	53390, .74127
C3	001	48	.999	69144, .69092
Cz	.103	48	.919	67006, .74218
C4	.461	48	.647	53326, .85052
P3	267	48	.791	79446, .60830
Pz	974	48	.335	-1.10131, .38229
P4	872	48	.388	-1.00304, .39627



Figure 14: Peak alpha frequency at baseline for each electrode of the sensorimotor cortex between PD and NPD.

4.6 Accelerometers

4.6.1 Normalized Lumbar Flexion Angles

No significant interactions between time or group (p=0.994), or main effects of group (p=0.098), or time (p=0.960) (Figure 15) were found for the normalized lumbar flexion angle between PD and NPD (Table 6).



Figure 15: Normalized lumbar flexion angle for each time block throughout the 60-minute sitting trial between PD and NPD.

Table 6: ANOVA test result comparing the normalized lumber angle between PD and NPD and time.

	df	F	p-value	Partial Eta
				Squared
Pain Group	1	2.762	.098	.014
Trial	3	.100	.960	.002
Pain Group *	3	.026	.994	.000
Trial				

4.6.2 Range of Motion

There were no significant interactions between time and pain group, and no significant main effects of time or pain group for the change in maximum flexion angle pre and post sitting (Figure 16, Table 7). Specifically, maximum range of motion in flexion pre-sitting was 21.13 ± 7.71 for PDs and 20.49 ± 11.82 for NPDs and post-sitting was 21.29 ± 8.72 for PDs and 20.39 ± 11.19 for NPDs.



Figure 16: The average change in maximum range of motion in flexion pre and post sitting.

Table 7: ANOVA results comparing the flexion angle before and after the 60-minute sitting

 exposure between PD and NPD.

	df	F	p-value	Partial Eta Squared
Pain Group	1	.152	.697	.002
Time	1	.000	.991	.000
Pain Group * Time	1	.004	.948	.000

4.6.3 Fidget Frequency

The univariate ANOVA revealed no significant interaction between pain group and time (F (3,196) = .453, p = .716, $\eta^2 = .007$), and no significant main effects of pain groups for the frequency of fidgets throughout the 60-minute sitting exposure (F (1,2) = 1.143, p = .286, $\eta^2 = .006$). There was a significant main effect for time (F (3,4) = 5.782, p = <.001, $\eta^2 = .084$) (Figure 17). The post hoc test displaying the differences between the four trials is listed in Table 8. Time block 3 significantly differed from 1 and 2 indicating that in the first three time blocks of the sitting trial fidget frequency decreased.



Figure 17: Average collapsed data frequency of fidgets (number per 15-minute time block).

Table 8: Post hoc test results for fidget frequency for each 15-minute time block throughout the sitting exposure.

Time Block	Trial	Mean	Std. Error	p-value	95% Confidence
		Difference			Interval
1 (0-15 minutes)	2	1.1276	1	.484	9202, 3.1753
	3	3.1837*	1	<.001	1.1465, 5.2208
	4	1.6576	1	.151	3694, 3.6845
2 (15-30	1	-1.1276	1	.484	-3.1753, .9202
minutes)	3	2.0561*	1	.049	.0084, 4.1039
	4	.5300	1	.907	-1.5076, 2.5676
3 (30-45	1	-3.1837*	1	<.001	-5.2208, -1.1465
minutes)	2	-2.0561*	1	.049	-4.1039,0084
	4	-1.5261	1	.210	-3.5531, .5008
4 (45-60	1	-1.6576	1	.151	-3.6845, .3694
minutes)	2	5300	1	.907	-2.5676, 1.5076
	3	1.5261	1	.210	5008, 3.5531

4.6.4 Shift Frequency

The univariate ANOVA revealed no significant interaction (F (3,195) = .542, p = .989, $\eta^2 = .001$) for the frequency of shifts throughout the 60-minute sitting exposure. There was a significant main effect of shift between pain groups (F (1,2) = 17.307, p = <.001, $\eta^2 = .085$). NPDs had significantly more shifts throughout the 60-minute sitting exposure when compared to the PD. There was also a significant main effect for time (F (3,4) = 3.978, p = .009, $\eta^2 = .060$) (Figure 18). The post hoc test displaying the differences between the four trials is listed in Table 9. Time block 3 significantly differed from blocks 1 and 2 indicating that in the first three time blocks shift frequency increased.



Figure 18: Average collapsed data frequency of shifts (number per 15-minute time block) for PD and NPD presented by time block.

Trial	Trial	Mean	Std. Error	p-value	95% Confidence
		Difference		-	Interval
1 (0-15 minutes)	2	1042	1	.999	-2.0289, 1.8205
	3	-2.1458*	1	.022	-4.0705,2211
	4	-1.4800	1	.187	-3.3852, .4252
2 (15-30	1	.1042	1	.999	-1.8205, 2.0289
minutes)	3	-2.0417*	1	.034	-3.9763,1071
	4	-1.3758	1	.248	-3.2910, .5393
3 (30-45	1	2.1458*	1	.022	.2211, 4.0705
minutes)	2	2.0417*	1	.034	.1071, 3.9763
	4	.6658	1	.804	-1.2493, 2.5810
4 (45-60	1	1.4800	1	.187	4252, 3.3852
minutes)	2	1.3758	1	.248	5393, 3.2910
	3	6658	1	.804	-2.5810, 1.2493

Table 9: Post hoc test results for fidget frequency for each 15-minute time block throughout the sitting exposure.

Chapter 5: Discussion

This study was the first in the literature to use blood marker and EEG outcomes to explore mechanisms that might explain the transient pain response that occurs in some people during sitting. Specifically, we aimed to explore the potential hypotheses that the transient pain response in sitting is related to inflammation secondary to viscoelastic creep and that those who develop this response may have an increased sensitivity to pain as indicated by a lower peak alpha frequency recorded using EEG. We investigated the potential avenue that inflammation was present as a result of the transient LBP which is developed throughout 60-minutes of sitting. In addition to the main research question we investigated if a sub-group of individuals classified as PD based on their subjective ratings of LBP throughout the 60-minute sitting trial are more susceptible to experiencing pain. Based on what is currently known in the literature we analyzed the peak alpha frequency at rest between PD and NPD to test this question. Finally, we investigated the development of viscoelastic creep and spinal micromovements in participants throughout the 60-minutes of sitting. We measured the change in range of motion before and after the exposure and also the frequency of micromovements throughout the exposure. We found that the pain groups did not significantly differ in peak alpha frequency, lumbar sitting angles, or spine flexion range of motion (an indirect indicator of passive tissue viscoelastic creep); however, the NPD displayed significantly more postural shifts throughout the 60-minute sitting exposure when compared to PD. Based on the inflammatory markers present between the groups, NPD had significantly higher levels of IL-6 and IL-10.

5.1 Pain Group Membership

The proportion of PD and NPD in this study slightly differed from that in the literature. Previous studies have found that 40% of their sample have been classified as PD and 60% as NPD when exposed to a prolonged static posture [11,74,80]. In our sample of 50 healthy individuals we classified 58% as PD and 42% as NPD. We did include all body regions of pain to be classified as PD whereas other studies in the literature only classified those who developed back pain to be considered PD. There were 4 (13.8%) individuals classified as PD who did not experience back pain and rated pain for other (neck and buttocks) body regions. This may explain the increased number of PD in this study compared to others in the literature. Furthermore, although part of the exclusion criteria was back pain, because this study was advertised as a study exploring sitting related back pain, it is possible we inadvertently attracted individuals who do not have clinical LBP, but might self-identify that they experience sitting-related pain and this might have increased their interest for participating in the study.

5.2 Biomarkers of Inflammation

The primary research question was concerned about the presence of inflammatory markers in the PD compared to the NPD which would help to inform on the presence of experienced pain as a result of the prolonged sitting exposure. The indication of an objective measure of pain shows a reflection on the presence of pain and allows us to better understand the origin of the pain and its relation to inflammation. We did not observe any significant changes in proinflammatory cytokines IL-6, TNF- α and IL-1 β or anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 during the sitting exposure. This finding does not support our hypothesis that the PD group would display greater inflammation in response to sitting. This is also not consistent with the literature surrounding

clinical LBP. Studies looking at inflammatory markers in clinical LBP have found elevated levels of proinflammatory markers in individuals suffering with LBP [87,97–99]. Additionally, individuals who suffer from clinical LBP have been found to have lower levels of IL-10 an antiinflammatory cytokine which works to control the concentration of proinflammatory cytokines [95,98]. It is possible that the experimental pain exposure was not long enough or not painful enough to induce a detectable inflammatory response which is similar to that found in clinical LBP or that inflammation may not be the source of experienced transient LBP in this sitting trial. In addition to this is possible that the inflammatory response is local which would not have been detectable due to the fact we used a systemic measure. Despite some methodological differences (laboratory setting versus field, university population versus office workers), our findings are consistent with the study by Carter et al., (2021) where they tested IL-6 and TNF- α in healthy office workers after sitting for 6-hours and found no elevation in the concentration of either marker [86]. Taken together it appears that sitting exposures on their own do not directly impact inflammatory markers, regardless of pain group class.

We did not see changes in concentrations in response to the sitting exposure itself, however, we did identify a significant difference in the concentration of IL-6 and IL-10 between pain groups. NPDs had significantly higher concentrations of both biomarkers. This is interesting, as it suggests that there may be a fundamental physiological difference between individuals classified as NPD and PD. Both cytokines (IL-6 and IL-10) can be classified as anti-inflammatory although IL-6 can also be pro-inflammatory in certain conditions. The difference between groups may be due to a variety of factors. While we controlled for alcohol, pain medication and physical activity 48 hours prior to the data collection, we did not control for all potential factors that can impact inflammatory markers. Thus, future directions for this work may consider exploring factors that
affect these inflammatory markers with the goal of understanding what is different between individuals that have a differential pain response to sitting.

5.3 Peak Alpha Frequency

We investigated three additional research questions in the study. First we investigated if sittinginduced PD are more sensitive to pain than NPD by comparing their peak alpha frequency at rest. We hypothesized that PD would have a slower peak alpha frequency at baseline compared to NPD, indicating a marker for pain sensitivity like that found in the literature [14–16]. We found no significant differences between the peak alpha frequency in the sensorimotor cortex between PD and NPD at baseline which was inconsistent with our hypothesis. In addition, this is not consistent with the literature in the area which has found the peak alpha frequency to be slower at rest in individuals who are more sensitive to pain or predisposed to experiencing pain [14–16]. We investigated peak alpha frequency in the sensorimotor cortex at resting state similar to methods used in the literature. However, Furman and Nir induced pain with the heat-capsaicin model whereas our "pain induction" was exposure to sitting [14,15]. It is possible that pain sensitivity does not explain the group differences or the threshold used in this study was too low and that experiencing pain may only be determined with higher levels of pain ratings and a higher pain threshold. Both our study and the study by Furman et al., (2018) used a subjective pain rating of 10 as the threshold for PD and NPD group establishment, however the average pain rating for PD in the study by Furman et al., (2018) was 56.01 (±16.96) and the average pain rating for PD in this study was 19.5 (± 9.1) [14]. In addition to this the study by Nir et al., (2010) reported average pain ratings between 54.27 and 60.91 throughout their experimental pain induction using tonic pain which is similar to the ratings found by Furman. Both studies by

Furman and Nir used relatively small samples which were smaller than the samples used in this study which should also be taken in account when interpreting these results. Therefore, in the context of this literature, we can make three potential conclusions for our findings. First, that sensitivity to pain, as defined by alpha wave frequency, does not explain the pain group differences in response to sitting. Secondly, the threshold used to classify pain development might be too low. Since pain ratings in the Furman group were substantially higher than our study, it is possible that the "true" threshold defining pain may be higher and that was captured in their study but not ours. Finally, peak alpha frequency may not be a reliable marker of pain sensitivity and the results observed by the Furman and Nir studies may be attributable to the small sample sizes used.

5.4 Viscoelastic Creep

There was no evidence of passive tissue creep induced by the sitting exposure in this study. Both the PD and NPD did not demonstrate an increase in spine flexion angles after the prolonged sitting exposure compared to before. Therefore, we reject our hypothesis that office chair sitting (even without a backrest) can induce passive tissue stiffness changes in a 60-minute exposure. Further, it may explain why we did not see changes in the inflammatory markers as we hypothesized that it may be inflammation secondary to tissue loading that is responsible for the experience of pain during sitting. The normalized lumbar flexion angles for both PD and NPD indicated that the participants were sitting at 40-50% of their maximum range of motion so we can assume that the magnitude of flexion and duration the posture was held is not high enough to induce passive tissue creep. This finding is consistent with the study by Green et al., (2019) which found no differences in the range of motion between PD and NPD after 60-minutes of sitting [13] where participants (both PD and NPD) adopted seated postures between 48-51%

maximum range of motion. If the participants had been in a more flexed position throughout the sitting trial it is possible there would have been evidence of viscoelastic creep occurring. For instance, there is evidence that increase in range of motion after a 60-minutes flexed sitting exposure where 15 healthy participants sat in a low easy chair at 70% of their range of motion to induce viscoelastic creep [70]. Therefore, it may be worth exploring the inflammatory marker hypothesis in contexts of greater magnitudes and/or durations of spine flexion. However, we can conclude that 60-minutes of office chair sitting does not appreciably change back stiffness, which is an important finding, in the context of worker safety and injury prevention.

5.6 Spine Micromovement

While analyzing the test results for spine micromovements it was revealed that over time participants went from making smaller micromovements (fidgets) to larger movements (shifts). This finding has not been observed before in previous studies and warrants further research. We also found a significant difference between PD and NPD groups for shift frequency (NPD having significantly higher shift frequency compared to PD) and no differences between groups for fidget frequency. This finding contradicts our hypothesis where we expected to find PD to display higher micromovements compared to NPD based on the literature where we expect that movement is reactive to pain. However, this is contradictory in the literature where some studies have found increased micromovements in individuals who experience LBP [73–75]. Whereas other studies have found an increase in micromovements in NPD [13]. The differences between studies are displayed in Table 10. The study by Nairn et al., (2013) and De Carvalho and Callaghan (2021) had participants seated for 2-hours and Dunk & Callaghan had participants seated for 90-minutes which is longer than the current study and the study by Green et al., (2019) which only had participants seated for 60-minutes [13,74,75,118]. Participants in the current

study, the study by Nairn et al., (2013) and by De Carvalho and Callaghan (2021) were healthy asymptomatic individuals, the study by Greene et al., (2019) included both individuals with a health history and without and the study by Dunk & Callaghan (2008) included individuals with sitting-aggravated LBP and without [13,74,118]. Both studies which found contradictory evidence to this study and the one by Greene et al., (2019) had a longer sitting exposure so it is possible time is an impacting factor when concerning spinal micromovements. However, although the study by Gallagher & Callaghan (2015) is not directly comparable to the current study as it investigated micromovements of PD and NPD throughout 2-hours of standing, they also found increased fidgets and shift in NPD which is consistent with what was found in the current study and also had an increased time frame [77]. The results supporting both angles make sense, regardless we still do not know what causes the movements and if it is protective or reactive. It is possible that individuals who experience LBP move more as a reactive mechanism to their experience of pain. It is also possible that movement is a protective mechanism to developing pain which is observed more in NPD. Given that both directions are supported in the literature this area still warrants further study, specifically, larger studies or a meta-analysis of similar studies could be conducted in the future to better estimate this effect.

5.7 Limitations

To reduce the number of limitations and biases present in the current study, we thought through and implemented strategies to minimize the risk. Not unexpected, based on the evidence in the literature, one limitation is the unequal number of participants classified as PD and NPD. As mentioned in the sample size calculation presented in section 3.4, we aimed to have equal groups or, at minimum, 60% NPD and 40% PD. To mitigate this limitation, we increased the sample from the calculated size to account for this. We had expected more individuals would be

classified as NPD compared to PD, however, that was not the case. We ended up having more PD than NPD which is not consistent with the literature, and might have been an artefact of our recruitment strategy or the use of pain in all body regions compared to just the back. However, all studies in this area have unbalanced group sizes (albeit with higher NPD than PD) and the statistical analysis used (ANOVA) is robust in terms of unequal groups which does account for this limitation.

Secondly, the sample size may be a potential limitation. We based our estimated sample size on the inflammatory marker dataset and this might not have been high enough for the rest of the outcome variables. A small sample is a limitation because it decreases the power of the study and increases the margin of error. However, it was not feasible to increase the sample of this study for several logistical reasons. First, because the study design included blood samples, it was resource intensive, requiring a research nurse, freezer space, and an expensive analysis. Therefore, increasing the sample would have exponentially increased the costs for the study. Secondly, time becomes a factor when samples are only able to be frozen for so long before analysis. Therefore, a higher sample would have lengthened the time to completion (considering that it does take longer to recruit participants for a study with blood draws).

To minimize scheduling issues, we did not control for time of day of the experiment, rather scheduled participants when they were able to come in. This could have impacted our outcome measures, particularly the inflammatory markers (which are known to change throughout the day) and spine range of motion (which also can change throughout the day). Thus, this may have limited the responsiveness of these outcome variables making them less likely to change during our experiment. Future studies should take this into consideration in their design.

The study population itself is also a limitation, as it was comprised mainly university students and staff. We expected this because the study was conducted on campus at Memorial University, and our recruitment documents were mainly available to students and faculty on campus. This population minimizes the generalizability of our results, however, it is a limitation shared with most of the studies conducted in this area to date. Future work should endeavour to broaden samples by re-evaluating recruitment strategies and reducing barriers to participation for offcampus individuals.

To minimize the risk of not being able to get a second sample at the end of the collection, our team decided to use an IV which remained in the cubital vein of the participant throughout the typing task. It was noted that some of the participants felt uncomfortable with it in their arm which may have impacted their normal typing posture. They still remained in a comfortable seated posture but chose to not type with the arm where the IV was inserted may have altered their posture, how they moved, and/or altered their experience of pain. However, considering our outcomes for posture (spine angles), movement (fidgets/shifts) and pain levels are comparable to past literature, it does not appear that this was the case.

Repeatedly asking the participants their experienced pain level may have resulted in them altering their response. To mitigate this, we limited the number of times we asked the participant for their pain rating from the frequency typically used in the literature (7.5 minutes). It does not look like this is the case as we had some individuals who did not rate any pain.

5.8 Future Research

One of the noted limitations listed above is the limited knowledge of the participants (i.e., factors that may impact inflammatory markers like stress, habits etc.) and their daily lives and activities

(age, fitness level, disease presence) prior to the experiment. A future study similar to this one with an additional survey asking the participant about these factors would be advantageous. As previously mentioned our population consisted largely of individuals who were familiar with prolonged sitting in their day to day lives. It is probable that a participant who was seated for the majority of the day prior to attending the study session may have had a different experience compared to an individual who was not seated for the majority of the day prior to the session.

It would be useful to consider exploring the most appropriate pain threshold to classify PD and NPD groups in a future study. It is possible that differences between the groups in terms of inflammation and peak alpha frequency if the experienced pain was more severe than what was found in this study. In this study the average pain rating for the PD group was below 20mm on the VAS, it would be useful to repeat this study for a longer duration and higher pain threshold with the expectation of have the PD group develop higher levels of pain.

We did not find differences between the PD and NPD that we expected to find. It is possible that the induction of experimental pain through the prolonged sitting was not long enough or painful enough to induce changes in blood biomarkers of inflammation, or it could mean that these factors are not important for these groups (or they were not the best outcomes to look at). Future research in the area should focus on what makes PD and NPD different so that we can use the groups to identify how people will experience pain and target them for interventions.

5.9 Conclusion and Impact

In conclusion, this study was the first in the literature to explore potential mechanistic hypotheses explaining the transient pain response in sitting. We aimed to explore whether sitting-induced pain was related to inflammation secondary to viscoelastic creep and/or an inherent increased

sensitivity to pain as indicated by a lower peak alpha frequency. We did not detect any systemic changes in inflammatory markers in PD compared to NPD therefore, while we have not captured what may be occurring locally at the tissue level, it does not appear that inflammation plays a large role in the development of pain during short sitting exposures. There were significant differences in IL-6 and IL-10 concentrations in PD and NPD, indicating some underlying differences between groups which should be explored further. Additionally, we aimed to investigate if some individuals are simply more susceptible to experiencing pain or developing chronic pain by comparing peak alpha frequency at rest on the basis of novel research in this area. We did not find any differences which support this hypothesis. Finally, we investigated if there was indirect evidence of viscoelastic creep and/or any evidence of differences in spinal movement between groups. Our indirect measure of creep, change in spine flexion range of motion, did not support the presence of viscoelastic changes in the passive tissues throughout the 60-minute sitting exposure. Participants sat with similar magnitudes of spine flexion and the only difference between groups was that NPD displayed greater postural shifts compared to PD. This is the first step and first study in the literature to better understand objective measures of pain throughout a sitting exposure which studies the development of a form of transient low back pain and whether some individuals might simply be more susceptible to experiencing pain. This study began the process of exploring potential hypothesis for the transient pain response sitting. Future research should focus on exploring other potential avenues for the transient pain response in sitting. In combination with additional research, this study will contribute to the ongoing body of research which aims to further investigate the phenomenon of transient development of sittinginduced pain: what causes it, what it means, and what it may be used for.

References

- Hoy D, March L, Brooks P, Woolf A, Blyth F, Vos T, et al. Measuring the global burden of low back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2010;24:155–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2009.11.002.
- [2] Vos T, Allen C, Arora M, Barber RM, Bhutta ZA, Brown A, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. The Lancet 2016;388:1545–602. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31678-6.
- [3] Wu A, March L, Zheng X, Huang J, Wang X, Zhao J, et al. Global low back pain prevalence and years lived with disability from 1990 to 2017: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Ann Transl Med 2020;8:299–299. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2020.02.175.
- Shmagel A, Foley R, Ibrahim H. Epidemiology of Chronic Low Back Pain in US Adults: Data From the 2009-2010 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: Chronic Low Back Pain in US Adults. Arthritis Care Res 2016;68:1688–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.22890.
- [5] Andersson GBJ. Epidemiology of low back pain. Acta Orthop Scand 1998;69:28–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/17453674.1998.11744790.
- [6] Hanney WJ, Masaracchio M, Liu X, Kolber MJ. The Influence of Physical Therapy Guideline Adherence on Healthcare Utilization and Costs among Patients with Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review of the Literature. PLOS ONE 2016;11:e0156799. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0156799.
- [7] Hoy D, Bain C, Williams G, March L, Brooks P, Blyth F, et al. A systematic review of the global prevalence of low back pain. Arthritis Rheum 2012;64:2028–37. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.34347.
- [8] Ehrlich GE. Low back pain. Bull World Health Organ 2003;81:671.
- [9] Van Nieuwenhuyse A. Risk factors for first-ever low back pain among workers in their first employment. Occup Med 2004;54:513–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqh091.
- [10] Mork PJ, Westgaard RH. Back posture and low back muscle activity in female computer workers: A field study. Clin Biomech 2009;24:169–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2008.11.001.
- [11] Nelson-Wong E, Callaghan JP. Transient Low Back Pain Development During Standing Predicts Future Clinical Low Back Pain in Previously Asymptomatic Individuals: Spine 2014;39:E379–83. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000000191.
- [12] De Carvalho DE, de Luca K, Funabashi M, Breen A, Wong AYL, Johansson MS, et al. Association of Exposures to Seated Postures With Immediate Increases in Back Pain: A Systematic Review of Studies With Objectively Measured Sitting Time. J Manipulative Physiol Ther 2020;43:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2019.10.001.
- [13] Greene RD, Frey M, Attarsharghi S, Snow JC, Barrett M, De Carvalho D. Transient perceived back pain induced by prolonged sitting in a backless office chair: are biomechanical factors involved? Ergonomics 2019;62:1415–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2019.1661526.
- [14] Furman AJ, Meeker TJ, Rietschel JC, Yoo S, Muthulingam J, Prokhorenko M, et al. Cerebral peak alpha frequency predicts individual differences in pain sensitivity. NeuroImage 2018;167:203–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.11.042.

- [15] Nir R-R, Sinai A, Raz E, Sprecher E, Yarnitsky D. Pain assessment by continuous EEG: Association between subjective perception of tonic pain and peak frequency of alpha oscillations during stimulation and at rest. Brain Res 2010;1344:77–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.05.004.
- [16] Furman AJ, Prokhorenko M, Keaser ML, Zhang J, Chen S, Mazaheri A, et al. Sensorimotor peak alpha frequency is a reliable biomarker of pain sensitivity. Neuroscience; 2019. https://doi.org/10.1101/613299.
- [17] Solomonow M. Neuromuscular manifestations of viscoelastic tissue degradation following high and low risk repetitive lumbar flexion. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2012;22:155–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2011.11.008.
- [18] Rickenbacher J, Landolt AM, Theiler K. Applied Anatomy of the Back. Springer Science & Business Media; 2013.
- [19] Adams MA. Biomechanics of Back Pain. Acupunct Med 2004;22:178–88. https://doi.org/10.1136/aim.22.4.178.
- [20] Raja SN, Carr DB, Cohen M, Finnerup NB, Flor H, Gibson S, et al. The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. Pain 2020;161:1976–82. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001939.
- [21] Woolf CJ. What is this thing called pain? J Clin Invest 2010;120:3742–4. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI45178.
- [22] Feizerfan A, Sheh G. Transition from acute to chronic pain. Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain 2015;15:98–102. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjaceaccp/mku044.
- [23] D'Mello R, Dickenson AH. Spinal cord mechanisms of pain. Br J Anaesth 2008;101:8–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aen088.
- [24] Bushnell MC, Čeko M, Low LA. Cognitive and emotional control of pain and its disruption in chronic pain. Nat Rev Neurosci 2013;14:502–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3516.
- [25] Villemure C, Bushnell MC. Mood Influences Supraspinal Pain Processing Separately from Attention. J Neurosci 2009;29:705–15. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3822-08.2009.
- [26] Baron R, Hans G, Dickenson AH. Peripheral input and its importance for central sensitization: Central Sensitization. Ann Neurol 2013;74:630–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24017.
- [27] European guidelines for the management of low back pain. Acta Orthop Scand 2002;73:20–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/000164702760379503.
- [28] Maher C, Underwood M, Buchbinder R. Non-specific low back pain. The Lancet 2017;389:736–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30970-9.
- [29] Koes BW, van Tulder MW, Thomas S. Diagnosis and treatment of low back pain. BMJ 2006;332:1430–4.
- [30] Kongsted A, Kent P, Axen I, Downie AS, Dunn KM. What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2016;17:220, s12891-016-1071–2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1071-2.
- [31] A Study of the Natural History of Back Pain: Part I Development of a Reliable and Sensitive Measure of Disability in Low-Back Pain n.d. https://oce-ovid-com.qe2aproxy.mun.ca/article/00007632-198303000-00004/PDF (accessed November 24, 2022).
- [32] Hestbaek L, Leboeuf-Yde C, Manniche C. Low back pain: what is the long-term course? A review of studies of general patient populations. Eur Spine J 2003;12:149–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-002-0508-5.

- [33] Adams M, Dolan P. Time-dependent changes in the lumbar spine's resistance to bending. Clin Biomech 1996;11:194–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/0268-0033(96)00002-2.
- [34] Kelsey JL, Githens PB, White III AA, Holford TR, Walter SD, O'Connor T, et al. An epidemiologic study of lifting and twisting on the job and risk for acute prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc. J Orthop Res 1984;2:61–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.1100020110.
- [35] McGill SM, Brown S. Creep response of the lumbar spine to prolonged full flexion. Clin Biomech 1992;7:43–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/0268-0033(92)90007-Q.
- [36] Rogers EL, Granata KP. Disturbed Paraspinal Reflex Following Prolonged Flexion-Relaxation and Recovery. Spine 2006;31:839. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.brs.0000206361.53451.c7.
- [37] Hendershot B, Bazrgari B, Muslim K, Toosizadeh N, Nussbaum MA, Madigan ML. Disturbance and recovery of trunk stiffness and reflexive muscle responses following prolonged trunk flexion: Influences of flexion angle and duration. Clin Biomech 2011;26:250–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2010.09.019.
- [38] Freburger JK, Holmes GM, Agans RP, Jackman AM, Darter JD, Wallace AS, et al. The Rising Prevalence of Chronic Low Back Pain. Arch Intern Med 2009;169:251. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2008.543.
- [39] Kopec JA, Sayre EC, Esdaile JM. Predictors of Back Pain in a General Population Cohort: Spine 2004;29:70–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.BRS.0000103942.81227.7F.
- [40] Loney PL, Stratford PW. The Prevalence of Low Back Pain in Adults: A Methodological Review of the Literature. Phys Ther 1999;79:384–96. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/79.4.384.
- [41] Dionne CE, Dunn KM, Croft PR. Does back pain prevalence really decrease with increasing age? A systematic review. Age Ageing 2006;35:229–34. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afj055.
- [42] Cassidy JD, Côté P, Carroll LJ, Kristman V. Incidence and Course of Low Back Pain Episodes in the General Population: Spine 2005;30:2817–23. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.brs.0000190448.69091.53.
- [43] Lawrence RC, Helmick CG, Arnett FC, Deyo RA, Felson DT, Giannini EH, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and selected musculoskeletal disorders in the United States. Arthritis Rheum 1998;41:778–99. https://doi.org/10.1002/1529-0131(199805)41:5<778::AID-ART4>3.0.CO;2-V.
- [44] Jin K, Sorock GS, Courtney TK. Prevalence of low back pain in three occupational groups in Shanghai, People's Republic of China. J Safety Res 2004;35:23–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2003.11.002.
- [45] Hoy D, Brooks P, Blyth F, Buchbinder R. The Epidemiology of low back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2010;24:769–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2010.10.002.
- [46] De Souza LH, Frank AO. Experiences of living with chronic back pain: The physical disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2007;29:587–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280600925852.
- [47] Lidgren L. The Bone and Joint Decade 2000–2010 n.d.:1.
- [48] Andersson GB. Epidemiological features of chronic low-back pain. The Lancet 1999;354:581–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(99)01312-4.
- [49] Wynne-Jones G, Dunn KM, Main CJ. The impact of low back pain on work: A study in primary care consulters. Eur J Pain 2008;12:180–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2007.04.006.
- [50] Dutmer AL, Schiphorst Preuper HR, Soer R, Brouwer S, Bültmann U, Dijkstra PU, et al. Personal and Societal Impact of Low Back Pain: The Groningen Spine Cohort. Spine 2019;44:E1443–51. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000003174.

- [51] Luo X, Pietrobon R, X Sun S, Liu GG, Hey L. Estimates and Patterns of Direct Health Care Expenditures Among Individuals With Back Pain in the United States: Spine 2004;29:79–86. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.BRS.0000105527.13866.0F.
- [52] O'Sullivan P. Diagnosis and classification of chronic low back pain disorders: Maladaptive movement and motor control impairments as underlying mechanism. Man Ther 2005;10:242–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2005.07.001.
- [53] Rainville J, Smeets RJEM, Bendix T, Tveito TH, Poiraudeau S, Indahl AJ. Fear-avoidance beliefs and pain avoidance in low back pain—translating research into clinical practice. Spine J 2011;11:895–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2011.08.006.
- [54] Qaseem A, Wilt TJ, McLean RM, Forciea MA, for the Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians. Noninvasive Treatments for Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med 2017;166:514. https://doi.org/10.7326/M16-2367.
- [55] Carter IR, Lord JL. How effective are exercise and physical therapy for chronic low back pain? J Fam Pract 2002;51:209–209.
- [56] Gordon R, Bloxham S. A Systematic Review of the Effects of Exercise and Physical Activity on Non-Specific Chronic Low Back Pain. Healthcare 2016;4:22. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare4020022.
- [57] Hayden JA, van Tulder MW, Tomlinson G. Systematic Review: Strategies for Using Exercise Therapy To Improve Outcomes in Chronic Low Back Pain. Ann Intern Med 2005;142:776–85.
- [58] Matthews CE, Chen KY, Freedson PS, Buchowski MS, Beech BM, Pate RR, et al. Amount of Time Spent in Sedentary Behaviors in the United States, 2003-2004. Am J Epidemiol 2008;167:875–81. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwm390.
- [59] Levine JA, McCrady SK, Boyne S, Smith J, Cargill K, Forrester T. Non-exercise Physical Activity in Agricultural and Urban People. Urban Stud 2011;48:2417–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098010379273.
- [60] Levine JA, Lanningham-Foster LM, McCrady SK, Krizan AC, Olson LR, Kane PH, et al. Interindividual Variation in Posture Allocation: Possible Role in Human Obesity. Science 2005;307:584–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1106561.
- [61] Hamilton MT, Hamilton DG, Zderic TW. Role of Low Energy Expenditure and Sitting in Obesity, Metabolic Syndrome, Type 2 Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Disease. Diabetes 2007;56:2655–67. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-0882.
- [62] Grandjean E, Hünting W. Ergonomics of posture—Review of various problems of standing and sitting posture. Appl Ergon 1977;8:135–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-6870(77)90002-3.
- [63] Jackson T, Thomas S, Stabile V, Shotwell M, Han X, McQueen K. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Global Burden of Chronic Pain Without Clear Etiology in Lowand Middle-Income Countries: Trends in Heterogeneous Data and a Proposal for New Assessment Methods. Anesth Analg 2016;123:739–48. https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.00000000001389.
- [64] Janwantanakul P, Pensri P, Jiamjarasrangsri V, Sinsongsook T. Prevalence of self-reported musculoskeletal symptoms among office workers. Occup Med 2008;58:436–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqn072.
- [65] Musculoskeletal disorders and workplace factors. A critical review of epidemiologic evidence for work-related musculoskeletal disorders of the neck, upper extremity, and low back. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for

Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health; 1997. https://doi.org/10.26616/NIOSHPUB97141.

- [66] Wahlström J. Ergonomics, musculoskeletal disorders and computer work. Occup Med 2005;55:168–76. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqi083.
- [67] Twomey L, Taylor J. Flexion Creep Deformation and Hysteresis in the Lumbar Vertebral Column. Spine 1982;7:116–22.
- [68] Adams MA, Dolan P, Hutton WC. Diurnal Variations in the Stresses on the Lumbar Spine. Spine 1987;12:130–7.
- [69] Solomonow M, Zhou B-HE, Baratta RV, Lu Y, Harris M. 1999 Volvo Award Winner in Biomechanical Studies: Biomechanics of Increased Exposure to Lumbar Injury Caused by Cyclic Loading: Part 1. Loss of Reflexive Muscular Stabilization 1999;24:2426.
- [70] Sánchez-Zuriaga D, Adams MA, Dolan P. Is Activation of the Back Muscles Impaired by Creep or Muscle Fatigue?: Spine 2010;35:517–25. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181b967ea.
- [71] Mackey S, Barnes J, Pike K, De Carvalho D. The relation between the flexion relaxation phenomenon onset angle and lumbar spine muscle reflex onset time in response to 30 min of slumped sitting. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2021;58:102545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2021.102545.
- [72] Creep deformation of viscoelastic lumbar tissue during sustained submaximal trunk flexion postures - ProQuest n.d. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2824681326?parentSessionId=SdZuvJ6%2FdsbduweT U4x%2FXgImK%2BprNnho1nuLXw%2FafYU%3D&pqorigsite=primo&accountid=12378&sourcetype=Scholarly%20Journals (accessed February 4, 2024).
- [73] Dunk NM, Callaghan JP. Lumbar spine movement patterns during prolonged sitting differentiate low back pain developers from matched asymptomatic controls. Work Read Mass 2010;35:3–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-2010-0953.
- [74] Nairn BC, Azar NR, Drake JDM. Transient pain developers show increased abdominal muscle activity during prolonged sitting. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2013;23:1421–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2013.09.001.
- [75] De Carvalho D, Callaghan JP. Does a break from sitting change biomechanical outcome measures or transient pain? A laboratory-based experimental study. Work 2023;75:553–66. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-211266.
- [76] Effects of Postural Shifting Frequency on Perceived Musculoskeletal Discomfort During 1-Hour Sitting in Office Workers. J Manipulative Physiol Ther 2023;46:76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2023.06.003.
- [77] Gallagher KM, Callaghan JP. Early static standing is associated with prolonged standing induced low back pain. Hum Mov Sci 2015;44:111–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2015.08.019.
- [78] Nelson-Wong E, Gregory DE, Winter DA, Callaghan JP. Gluteus medius muscle activation patterns as a predictor of low back pain during standing. Clin Biomech 2008;23:545–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2008.01.002.
- [79] Nelson-Wong E, Callaghan JP. Is muscle co-activation a predisposing factor for low back pain development during standing? A multifactorial approach for early identification of atrisk individuals. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2010;20:256–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2009.04.009.

- [80] Schinkel-Ivy A, Nairn BC, Drake JDM. Investigation of trunk muscle co-contraction and its association with low back pain development during prolonged sitting. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2013;23:778–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2013.02.001.
- [81] Price DD. Psychological and neural mechanisms of the affective dimension of pain. Science 2000;288:1769–72.
- [82] Williamson A, Hoggart B. Pain: a review of three commonly used pain rating scales: Pain rating scales. J Clin Nurs 2005;14:798–804. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2005.01121.x.
- [83] Klyne DM, Barbe MF, Hodges PW. Systemic inflammatory profiles and their relationships with demographic, behavioural and clinical features in acute low back pain. Brain Behav Immun 2017;60:84–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.10.003.
- [84] Watkins LR, Maier SF. Beyond Neurons: Evidence That Immune and Glial Cells Contribute to Pathological Pain States. Physiol Rev 2002. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00011.2002.
- [85] The role of inflammatory markers in Temporomandibular Myalgia: A systematic review. Jpn Dent Sci Rev 2023;59:281–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdsr.2023.08.006.
- [86] Carter SE, Draijer R, Stewart CE, Moss AD, Thijssen DHJ, Hopkins ND. Are acute sitting-induced changes in inflammation and cerebrovascular function related to impaired mood and cognition? Sport Sci Health 2021;17:753–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11332-021-00753-8.
- [87] Lim YZ, Wang Y, Cicuttini FM, Hughes HJ, Chou L, Urquhart DM, et al. Association Between Inflammatory Biomarkers and Nonspecific Low Back Pain : A Systematic Review. Clin J Pain 2020;36:379–89. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000810.
- [88] Kushner I. Regulation of the Acute Phase Response by Cytokines. Perspect Biol Med 1993;36:611–22. https://doi.org/10.1353/pbm.1993.0004.
- [89] Gabay C. Interleukin-6 and chronic inflammation. Arthritis Res Ther 2006;8:S3. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar1917.
- [90] Zhou Y-Q, Liu Z, Liu Z-H, Chen S-P, Li M, Shahveranov A, et al. Interleukin-6: an emerging regulator of pathological pain. J Neuroinflammation 2016;13:141. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-016-0607-6.
- [91] Popko K, Gorska E, Stelmaszczyk-Emmel A, Plywaczewski R, Stoklosa A, Gorecka D, et al. Proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TNF-α and the development of inflammation in obese subjects. Eur J Med Res 2010;15:120–2. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-783X-15-S2-120.
- [92] Baud V, Karin M. Signal transduction by tumor necrosis factor and its relatives. Trends Cell Biol 2001;11:372–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0962-8924(01)02064-5.
- [93] Bradley J. TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. J Pathol 2008;214:149–60. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2287.
- [94] Dinarello CA. Immunological and Inflammatory Functions of the Interleukin-1 Family. Annu Rev Immunol 2009;27:519–50. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132612.
- [95] Moore KW, De Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 and the Interleukin-10 Receptor. Annu Rev Immunol 2001;19:683–765. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.683.
- [96] Üçeyler N, Rogausch JP, Toyka KV, Sommer C. Differential expression of cytokines in painful and painless neuropathies. Neurology 2007;69:42–9. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000265062.92340.a5.

- [97] van den Berg R, Jongbloed EM, de Schepper EIT, Bierma-Zeinstra SMA, Koes BW, Luijsterburg PAJ. The association between pro-inflammatory biomarkers and nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review. Spine J 2018;18:2140–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2018.06.349.
- [98] Li Y, Liu J, Liu Z, Duan D. Inflammation in low back pain may be detected from the peripheral blood: suggestions for biomarker. Biosci Rep 2016;36:e00361. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20160187.
- [99] Teodorczyk-Injeyan JA, Triano JJ, Injeyan HS. Nonspecific Low Back Pain. Clin J Pain 2019;35:818–25. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000745.
- [100] Cohen MX. Where Does EEG Come From and What Does It Mean? Trends Neurosci 2017;40:208–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2017.02.004.
- [101] Kirschstein T, Köhling R. What is the Source of the EEG? Clin EEG Neurosci 2009;40:146–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/155005940904000305.
- [102] Rathee S, Bhatia D, Punia V, Singh R. Peak Alpha Frequency in Relation to Cognitive Performance. J Neurosci Rural Pract 2020;11:416–9. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0040-1712585.
- [103] Herwig U, Satrapi P, Schönfeldt-Lecuona C. Using the International 10-20 EEG System for Positioning of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. Brain Topogr 2003;16:95–9. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:BRAT.0000006333.93597.9d.
- [104] Kozlova LI, Bezmaternykh DD, Mel'nikov ME, Savelov AA, Petrovskii ED, Shtark MB. Dynamics of Interaction of Neural Networks in the Course of EEG Alpha Biofeedback. Bull Exp Biol Med 2017;162:619–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10517-017-3671-8.
- [105] Mayaud L, Wu H, Barthélemy Q, Favennec P, Delpierre Y, Congedo M, et al. Alpha-phase synchrony EEG training for multi-resistant chronic low back pain patients: an open-label pilot study. Eur Spine J Off Publ Eur Spine Soc Eur Spinal Deform Soc Eur Sect Cerv Spine Res Soc 2019;28:2487–501. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-019-06051-9.
- [106] Grandy TH, Werkle-Bergner M, Chicherio C, Schmiedek F, Lövdén M, Lindenberger U. Peak individual alpha frequency qualifies as a stable neurophysiological trait marker in healthy younger and older adults. Psychophysiology 2013;50:570–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.12043.
- [107] Bazanova OM, Vernon D. Interpreting EEG alpha activity. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2014;44:94–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.05.007.
- [108] Haegens S, Cousijn H, Wallis G, Harrison PJ, Nobre AC. Inter- and intra-individual variability in alpha peak frequency. NeuroImage 2014;92:46–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.01.049.
- [109] Sarnthein J, Stern J, Aufenberg C, Rousson V, Jeanmonod D. Increased EEG power and slowed dominant frequency in patients with neurogenic pain. Brain 2006;129:55–64. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh631.
- [110] Walton KD, Dubois M, Llinás RR. Abnormal thalamocortical activity in patients with Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) Type I. Pain 2010;150:41–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.02.023.
- [111] Lim M, Kim JS, Kim DJ, Chung CK. Increased Low- and High-Frequency Oscillatory Activity in the Prefrontal Cortex of Fibromyalgia Patients. Front Hum Neurosci 2016;10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00111.
- [112] Feng L, Li H, Cui H, Xie X, Xu S, Hu Y. Low Back Pain Assessment Based on Alpha Oscillation Changes in Spontaneous Electroencephalogram (EEG). Neural Plast 2021:1– 11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/8537437.

- [113] Checklists. STROBE n.d. https://www.strobe-statement.org/checklists/ (accessed November 6, 2023).
- [114] Benson S, Rebernik L, Wegner A, Kleine-Borgmann J, Engler H, Schlamann M, et al. Neural circuitry mediating inflammation-induced central pain amplification in human experimental endotoxemia. Brain Behav Immun 2015;48:222–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.017.
- [115] Government of Canada CC for OH and S. CCOHS: Working in a Sitting Position Basic Requirements 2023. https://www.ccohs.ca/oshanswers/ergonomics/sitting/sitting_basic.html (accessed July 18, 2023).
- [116] Nelson-Wong E, Callaghan JP. Changes in muscle activation patterns and subjective low back pain ratings during prolonged standing in response to an exercise intervention. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2010;20:1125–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2010.07.007.
- [117] Williams JM, Frey M, Breen A, De Carvalho D. Systematic analysis of different low-pass filter cut-off frequencies on lumbar spine kinematics data and the impact on the agreement between accelerometers and an optoelectronic system. J Biomech 2022;145:111395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2022.111395.
- [118] Dunk NM, Callaghan JP. Lumbar spine movement patterns during prolonged sitting differentiate low back pain developers from matched asymptomatic controls. Work Read Mass 2010;35:3–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-2010-0953.

Appendices

Appendix A: Health screening form

Subject Code:	Date:
This questionnaire a your entry into the	asks some questions about your health status. This Information is used to guide us wi study.
Relevant Clinical H	istory:
Please check all tha	at apply to you (diagnosed or suspected).
	Inflammatory Disorder
	Spondyloarthropathy
	Rheumatoid Arthritis
	Other:
	Chronic Pain Disorders
	Fibromyalgia
	Complex Regional Pain Syndrome
	Chronic Low Back Pain
	Chronic Pain (>4 pain days/ month for at least 3 month)
	Other:
	Neurological Disease, disorder or injury
	Epilepsy and/or Seizures
	Alzheimer's Disease
	Stroke
	Multiple Sclerosis
	Other:
	Psychiatric Disorder or Cognitive Impairment
	Autism
	Bipolar Disorder
	Major Depressive Disorder
	Schizophrenia
	Attention Deficit-Hyperactivty Disorder (ADHD)
	Memory Loss
	Other:
	Pregnancy
	Communicable Disease
	Hepatitis C
	HIV
	Other:

no pain	worst pain imaginable
0	100

Appendix B: Ethics approval



August 31, 2021

230 Elizabeth Ave Health Sciences Centre, Room 5315 St. John's, NL A1B 3X9

DearDr De Carvalho:

Researcher Portal File # 20220467 Reference # 2021.126

RE: Validation of Induced Pain Models: Heat Capsaicin and Sitting

Your application was reviewed by the Health Research Ethics Board (HREB) at the meeting held on July 15, 2021 and your response was reviewed by the Co-Chair under the direction of the HREB and the following decision was rendered:

х	Approval	
	Approval subject to changes	
	Rejection	

Ethics approval is granted for one year effective August 25, 2021. This ethics approval will be reported to the board at the next scheduled HREB meeting.

This is to confirm that the HREB reviewed and approved or acknowledged the following documents (as indicated):

- · Application, approved
- Proposal (Part A & B), approved
- Recruitment email Part A, approved
- Recruitment email Part B, approved
- Informed Consent Form Part A, approved
- Informed Consent Form Part B, approved
- Social media communication Part A & B, approved

Research Ethics Office Suite 200, Eastern Trust Building 95 Bonaventure Avenue St. John's, NL A1B 2X5

- Budget Part B, approved
- Budget Part A (HC), approved
- Recruitment Poster Part A (HC), approved
- Verbal Recruitment Script Part B, approved
- Verbal Recruitment Script Part A, approved
- Health Screening Form (Part A & B), approved
- Take Home Sheet (Part A), approved
- Recruitment poster for part B, approved

Please note the following:

- This ethics approval will lapse on August 25, 2022. It is your responsibility to
 ensure that the Ethics Renewal form is submitted prior to the renewal date.
- This is your ethics approval only. Organizational approval may also be required. It is your responsibility to seek the necessary organizational approvals.
- Modifications of the study are not permitted without prior approval from the HREB. Request for modification to the study must be outlined on the relevant Event Form available on the Researcher Portal website.
- Though this research has received HREB approval, you are responsible for the ethical conduct of this research.
- If you have any questions please contact info@hrea.ca or 709 777 6974.

The HREB operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), ICH Guidance E6: Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (GCP), the Health Research Ethics Authority Act (HREA Act) and applicable laws and regulations.

We wish you every success with your study.

Sincerely,

Dr Robert Mercer, Acting Chair Non-Clinical Trials Committee Health Research Ethics Board

Appendix C: Q-Q plot for electrodes of interest to check for assumption of normality of the alpha frequency data

















